
 
 
 

Highways Committee 
 
 
Date Tuesday 21 February 2012 

Time 10.00 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 
1. Minutes of the meetings held on 20 December 2011 and 2 February 

2012  (Pages 1 - 4) 

2. Declarations of interest, if any   

3. Stanhope Ford - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
Services  (Pages 5 - 42) 

4. B6277 Speed Limit Review - Report of Corporate Director, 
Neighbourhood Services  (Pages 43 - 52) 

5. Rockingham Drive, Bishop Auckland - Traffic Calming - Report of 
Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services  (Pages 53 - 62) 

6. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Colette Longbottom 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
13 February 2012 
 
 
To: The Members of the Highways Committee 

 
 Councillor G Bleasdale (Chair) 

Councillor J Robinson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, D Burn, N Foster, D Hancock, 
S Hugill, D Marshall, J Maslin, A Naylor, J Shiell, P Stradling, 
T Taylor, L Thomson, R Todd, E Tomlinson, J Turnbull, C Woods, 
A Wright and R Young 

 

Contact:  Michael Turnbull Tel: 0191 383 3861 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 
on Tuesday 20 December 2011 at 10.00 am 
 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor G Bleasdale (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, D Burn, N Foster, S Hugill, D Marshall, A Naylor, 
P Stradling, T Taylor, L Thomson, R Todd, J Turnbull, C Woods, A Wright and R Young 
 
Apologies: 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Robinson, D Hancock, J Maslin, 
J Shiell and E Tomlinson 
 
 
1 Minutes of the meetings held on 30 September and 22 November 2011  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 30 September and 22 November 2011 were agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
2 Declarations of interest, if any  
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on the agenda. 
 
3 Durham Gate Speed restrictions and access restrictions 
 
The Business Manager informed the Committee that the report relating to speed and 
access restrictions had been presented for re-consideration by the Highways Committee 
following an administrative oversight at the previous meeting of the Highways Committee 
(for copy see file of Minutes). This was to ensure that those objectors to the scheme could 
make their representations to the Committee in person.  However, following further 
discussion with Green Lane Residents Association it had become apparent that a street 
name had been incorrectly identified in the text of the legal order.  Given this discrepancy it 
was felt appropriate to reconsider and re-advertise the legal order.  The Committee would 
then be in a position to consider the report early in the New Year. 
 
Resolved 
That the report be withdrawn to allow for a re-advertisement of the legal order. 
 
4 Prohibition And Restriction Of Waiting And Prohibition Of Loading / 
Unloading Amendment Order 2011 - Stanley 
 
The Business Manager informed the Committee that the item relating to the prohibition 
and restriction of waiting and prohibition of loading/unloading amendment order in Stanley 
(for copy see file of Minutes) would have to be withdrawn following an issue regarding the 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



consultation process with local members.  The Business Manager informed the Committee 
that new safeguards and checking procedures would be put in place to ensure that similar 
errors could not be made in the future. 
 
Resolved 
That the item be formally withdrawn to allow wider consultation with local members and 
considered at a meeting early in the New Year. 
 
 

Page 2



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
At a Special Meeting of the Highways Committee held in St. Patricks Hall, Victoria Road, 
Consett, Durham on Thursday 2 February 2012 at 11.00 am 
 
 
Present: 

Councillor G Bleasdale in the Chair 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, N Foster, S Hugill, A Naylor, J Shiell, P Stradling, 
E Tomlinson, J Turnbull and R Young 
 
Apologies: 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Burn, T Taylor, L Thomson, 
R Todd, C Woods and A Wright 
 
Also Present: 

Councillor C Robson and O Temple  

 
1 Declarations of interest, if any  
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on the agenda. 
 
2 Belle Vue, Consett, Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Public Path 
Stopping-Up Order 
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Corporate Director, Regeneration and 
Economic Development and Head of Legal and Democratic Services which detailed a 
proposal to make a Public Path Stopping-Up Order to extinguish any public rights of way 
which may exist in the Belle Vue area of Consett to enable development in accordance 
with planning permission. 
 
The Section Manager for Access and Rights of Way provided the Committee with the 
background to the scheme and stated that whilst there were no recorded public rights over 
the land in question it was accepted that there was long-term public use on foot, with 
public rights being acquired on that basis.  It was therefore appropriate that those rights be 
extinguished prior to any development taking place. 
 
The area covered by the proposed order was the area of the existing buildings which 
would be demolished, the area of the academy and the leisure centre development.  A 
network of new footpaths would be provided for the public to use as part of the 
development. 
 
The Committee were appraised with the details of the consultation that had taken place 
with stakeholders. An objection to the proposed order had been received from Councillor 
Temple, one of the local members for the area. 
 

Page 3



The Project Manager, Building Schools for the Future Team, informed the Committee that 
the proposed development had been due to commence in Spring 2010, however, there 
had been a number of delays associated with the project, most notably with the loss of the 
lead sponsor and the submission of a village green application. Stopping up was required 
to provide a secure inner boundary and to maintain visibility and security on site, with the 
need to control access. The County Council wished to commence development as soon as 
possible, and confirmation of the stopping up order would allow development to 
commence.  
 
The Committee were informed that any decision by the Committee to make an order would 
not prejudice any aspect of the ongoing village green application.  It was likely, given local 
interest, that should any objections be made in relation to the order during the statutory 
period of notice and not withdrawn, the matter would be referred to the Secretary of State.  
A planning inspector would then need to be appointed and it was a strong possibility that 
the process would not be concluded by July/August 2012, with a decision due thereafter.   
 
In response to a question from Councillor Bainbridge in relation to the village green judicial 
review process, the Planning and Development Solicitor informed the Committee the 
Judicial Review hearing in the High Court would probably take place in April and that the 
likelihood was that the stopping up process would not be concluded the by the end of the 
judicial review process. Any decision made by the Highways Committee would not impact 
on the status of the land subject to judicial review.   
 
Councillor Temple praised the fair and complete process that had taken place to date. He 
acknowledged that local people would have the opportunity to make representations at an 
appropriate time, nevertheless, he was attending the meeting with the strength of feelings 
of those residents behind him. Councillor Temple was of the opinion that the decision the 
Committee were being asked to make, related to the public right of way, some of which 
could potentially be village green, subject to the application.  That being the case, he 
suggested that the Highways Committee should perhaps not make any decision on the 
stopping-up order until the judicial review had been carried out on the basis that the 
Committee would potentially be pre-judging the possible outcome of the judicial review. 
 
Councillor Robson, the other local Member for the area commented that the development 
had been delayed on a number of occasions and the timescales were extremely important.  
Whilst he acknowledged the representations made to local residents through Councillor 
Temple, he commented that there were a large number of residents equally frustrated and 
angry at the delays and further disruptions would simply exacerbate the issue. 
 
Resolved 
That the order to stop-up pedestrian public rights of way at Belle Vue, Consett be made. 
 

Page 4



 

 

Highways Committee 
 
21st February 2012 
 

Stanhope Ford 

 

 
 

Report of Terry Collins, Corporate Director for Neighbourhood 
Services 

Councillor Bob Young, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1. To appraise Members of the Highways Committee regarding the Planning 

Inspector’s recommendations following a Public Inquiry into the proposed 
Prohibition of Driving Traffic Order to prevent all vehicles from using Stanhope 
Ford on the grounds of safety. 

 
2. It is recommended that the Committee endorse the proposal having considered 

the recommendation of the Planning Inspector and the views of the Corporate 
Director. 

 
Background 
 
3. Members of the Highways Committee will recall at its meeting of 28th June 2011 

(see Appendix 2) that proposals to close the Ford to vehicles were put forward 
in response to serious safety concerns following a number of incidents in which 
people had to be rescued after attempting to drive across the ford during 
unsafe conditions.  At this meeting a recommendation was approved that 
evidence, both for and against the closure of the Ford to all vehicles, should be 
heard at a Public Inquiry due to the complexity of the issue and the volume of 
objections from local residents, user groups and the Parish Council.  A 
summary of objections and officer responses can be seen in Appendix 3. 
 

4. Over three days in January 2012, a non-statutory public inquiry heard evidence 
from a range of experts and local people regarding proposals to close the Ford. 
The inquiry was heard by Inspector Malcolm Rivett, who also carried out site 
inspections at the ford. 

 
Findings of the Inspector 
 
5. The report of Malcolm Rivett can be seen in Appendix 4. 

 
6. The Inspector found that potential disadvantages to tourism that may result 

from the Ford’s closure would be outweighed by the potential to make the area 
safer and more attractive by preventing vehicles from driving across the Ford. 
 

7. The overall conclusion of the inquiry was that, on balance, the public safety 
benefits of making an order to close the Ford outweigh the objections which 
were raised. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 5



 

 

8. In his report, Mr Rivett stated: “I consider that the elimination of serious and 
potentially life-threatening incidents, which have occurred at the Ford at an 
average rate of around one every four months during the April to September 
period, would be a significant benefit of the order, a benefit which would not be 
achieved by any of the suggested alternatives.” 
 

Conclusion 
 

9. It is clear from past experiences of rescues, that there is a continued risk to the 
motoring public using Stanhope Ford, some of whom persist in their attempts to 
traverse the Ford during spate conditions, despite the warning signs.  
 

10. The concerns of both the Police and the Fire & Rescue Service have escalated 
to a level where incidents and consequential rescues must be eliminated. 

 
11. As it is known that lives are potentially at risk, Durham County Council cannot 

accept anything but a 100% guaranteed workable solution.  
 

12. The Inspector concluded that none of the alternatives put forward would result 
in improved public safety and, in some cases, would be unworkable and 
recommended that the Order should be made. 

 

13. The Corporate Director accepts the findings of the Inspector and intends to 
make the Order. 
 

14. Durham County Council will continue to maintain the Ford to a condition that is 
suitable for access on foot only by maintaining the stepping stones upstream of 
the Ford.  Furthermore, the Ford bed will continue to be available to those 
people who gather in the summer months to play in the river.   

 
Local Member Consultation 
 
15. The Local Members, Councillor Shuttleworth and Councillor Savory, both gave 

evidence at the Inquiry and offered objections to the proposals believing 
Stanhope Ford to be essential to Stanhope’s heritage and tourism. 

 

Recommendation and Reasons 
 

16. It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee note the recommendation of the 
Planning Inspector to confirm the Order. 
 

17. It is RECOMMENDED that, having considered the recommendation of the 
Planning Inspector, the Committee endorses the decision of the Corporate 
Director of Neighbourhood Services to proceed with the confirming of the 
Traffic Regulation Order to introduce a ‘Prohibition of Driving’  to close the Ford 
to vehicular traffic. 

 

Background Papers 
 

� Highways Committee report dated 28th June 2011. 
� Summary of objections and Officer responses 
� DPI/X1355/11/21 Report of Planning Inspectorate in respect of Durham CC 

Stanhope Ford TRO - Prohibition of Driving 
 

Contact:  Dave Wilcox                            Tel: 0191 383 3468  

Page 6



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance   
The ford will continue to be maintained which will require a capital funding. 
 
Staffing    
None 

 
Risk   
The risk to motorists remains the principle reason for closure.  There will also be a 
risk to the Authority, if an accident were to occur, having been notified of the safety 
issues by the Emergency Services. 
 
Equality and Diversity /  Public Sector Equality Duty  
An Equality Impact Assessment to be carried out. 
 
Accommodation  
None 
  
Crime and Disorder 
Reduction in callouts to emergency services. 
 
Human Rights  
None 
  
Consultation 
This has been completed in accordance with the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 
 
Procurement  
None 
 
Disability issues  
An Equality Impact Assessment to be carried out. 
 
Legal Implications  
The Authority may be challenged on a decision to close the Ford by means of a 
judicial review. 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 28th June 2011   
 

Stanhope Ford 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Terry Collins, Corporate Director for Neighbourhood Services 

Councillor Bob Young, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Environment and Leisure 

 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1. To appraise Members of safety issues surrounding the continued 

use of Stanhope Ford and the responses received to a statutory 
public consultation exercise linked to the  publication of a traffic  
order to permanently close the ford to vehicular traffic. 

 
2. To inform the committee of a proposal to hold a non statutory public 

inquiry to consider the objections and representations received 
during the public consultation exercise and to receive the 
committees views on this proposal. 

 
Background 
 
 

3. Stanhope Ford is an unclassified road forming an optional crossing 
point on the River Wear in Weardale, linking the B6278 with the 
A689 (Appendix 2). The B6278 crosses the river upstream of 
Stanhope Ford by a road bridge known as ‘Stonebridge’ which has 
been assessed by Engineers as being suitable for typical ‘B’ road 
classification traffic flow.  

 
4. The B6278 has a recorded ‘Annual Average Daily Traffic Flow’ 

(AADT) of 724 vehicles per day. In contrast, from surveys 
undertaken in January 2007, at the southern approach ramp to the 
ford, the 7 day average traffic flow for that particular week of 
vehicles using the ford is recorded as 60 vehicles per day. It is 
generally accepted that summer months will have increased traffic 
flows across the ford, but no traffic flow data is available to show 
this comparison. 

 
5. The ford consists of a reinforced concrete slab bed 4 metres wide 

and some 50 metres long including approach aprons.  It is one of 
only a few fords within the country which traverses a main river and 
is known to be a popular attraction to both locals and tourists during 
the summer months. To some extent, Stanhope Ford was utilised 

Agenda Item 5

Page 43Page 9



by the local residents as a ‘shortcut’ between the A689 and B6278, 
saving the need to travel approximately three quarters of a mile if 
they were to follow the designated B6278 route. (Appendix 2) 

 
6. Over the past ten years, this being the extent of the information 

available, there has been 23 reported incidents at the Ford. 
Motorists have become stranded when attempting to traverse the 
ford during adverse weather conditions. In some cases, this has 
necessitated rescues by the Emergency Services. 

 
7. In 2007, following representations from the Emergency Services, 

the County Council considered the reports provided by them. It was 
possible to link these incidents with the hydrological (river flow) data 
supplied by the Environment Agency (Appendix 4).  Following a 
number of management team meetings and public consultation, a 
report was taken to the Council’s Highways Committee in 2007 to 
confirm a Traffic Regulation Order which would seasonally prohibit 
the use of the ford by vehicular traffic between the period of 1st 
October to 31st March each year.  Based upon the historic 
incident/flow data research, this seasonal road closure period was 
aimed at significantly reducing the number of incidents that the 
Emergency Services were called to attend. During the “closed 
season”, lockable barriers are brought into operation on both 
riverbanks and motorists continue their journey on the B6278 to 
cross the river bridge upstream of the ford. 

 
Recent Incidents 
 

8. The Ford was closed under the seasonal closure order and re-
opened on the 1st April 2008, to traffic. At this time, the river was in 
spate (flood condition following heavy rainfall) and unfortunately, 
once again, a motorist attempted to traverse the ford that same day, 
becoming stranded in rising water levels. This resulted in the 
Emergency Services attending and actioning a rescue of the 
vehicle’s occupants. A number of previous Emergency Services 
rescues, have necessitated the assistance of an RAF helicopter the 
most recent of which was reported in the national press with TV 
coverage. 

 
9. At the time the incident in April 2008 unfolded, the Police used their 

emergency powers to re-impose a road closure of the Ford, arising 
from their road safety concerns. The ford has remained closed to 
vehicular traffic since that incident. During this 38 month period of 
closure ,that has now elapsed, there has been very few complaints 
from the general public other than representations by Stanhope 
Parish Council who have continually opposed the closure of the 
ford.  

 
 
 
 

Page 44Page 10



Current Situation 
 

10. In recent years, there has been a significant build-up of rocks and 
gravel downstream of the ford which has effectively acted as a 
natural dam to the rivers flow, causing increased water depth levels 
across the ford. The increased river depth combined with the 
velocity of the rivers flow across the ford is considered to be one of 
the primary reasons why vehicles are becoming stranded in the 
river. In particular, water enters the air in-take pipes on vehicle 
engines causing the engine to stall as it fills with water. It is further 
known that river levels can rise quickly as a result of “cloud breaks” 
up on the Pennine Hills which are known to create river bores at 
any time of the year. 

 
11. It has become clear in recent years that the incidents are not 

confined to certain times of the year.  Therefore, the seasonal traffic 
order does not afford the protection of the public. Following the 
concerns of the Police arising from the continued incidents at 
Stanhope Ford, and two recent fatal incidents elsewhere in the 
Country involving 4x4 vehicles being swept from fords, it has in the 
circumstances become necessary to implement a temporary road 
closure order which remains in place to this date. 

 
12. The Police and Fire Services remain seriously concerned about 

overall public safety due to the behaviour of some motorists who 
continue to ignore warning signage regarding the ford conditions 
and proceed to cross the ford in spate conditions. Such behaviour 
not only puts motorists lives at risk but also the lives of emergency 
services personnel attempting to rescue stranded motorists and 
vehicles from the ford. 

 
Consultations 
 

13. The County Council have published a traffic order to revoke the 
Seasonal order  which closes the Ford between 1st October and 31st 
March each year and is proposing  to implement  a permanent 
‘Prohibition of Driving’ Traffic Order. The existing lockable barrier 
either side of the ford would therefore be in its closed position  
permanently. 

 
14. Arising from the statutory consultation, we have received thirteen 

responses of support, which have included support from the Police, 
the Fire Service, the Ambulance Service, the Environment Agency 
and some residential properties located near the ford access road. 

 
15. Twenty-one objections, which include responses from members of 

the public, Stanhope Parish Council and Weardale Area Action 
Partnership were received. 

 
 

 

Page 45Page 11



16. In addition, we have received objections from three specialist 
motoring organisations including the organisers of The Beamish 
Reliability Rally who together with other motoring organisations 
have historically utilised the ford as a ‘special stage’ in their car rally 
routes.  

 
17. A handwritten petition to ‘Save Stanhope Ford’ was received 

containing 82 signatures.  
 

18. We also have non-statutory representations made via a ‘Facebook’ 
website created by campaigners that recorded 1,007 members 
resulting in 350 objections when viewed on 18th November 2010, 
being the end of the statutory objection period. 

 
19. The Local Members, Councillor Shuttleworth and Councillor 

Savoury were both consulted and offered objections to the 
proposals believing Stanhope Ford to be essential to Stanhope’s 
heritage and tourism. 

 
Conclusion 
 

20. In the light of the volume of objections to this published traffic order, 
and the complexity of the evidence and legal issues involved, it is 
considered to be good practice to hold a non statutory public 
inquiry. In such circumstances an Inspector with expertise in these 
matters will be appointed. The inspector will produce a report and 
recommendation, having considered all the evidence, to the  
Corporate Director of Neighbourhood Services to implement. 

 
Recommendation and Reasons 
 

21. It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee endorse the Director’s 
proposal  to appoint an inspector to hold a Public Inquiry to consider 
the objections received and thereafter provide a report and 
recommendation for the Corporate Director of Neighbourhood 
Services to implement. 

 
Background Papers 
 

22. Traffic & Community Engagement – Area 2:  
 

a. Stanhope Ford correspondence files. 
b. Stanhope Ford consultation files 

 
23. Structures Office 

 
a.  Inspection files 
b. Maintenance files 

 
 

Contact: Steve Keetley, Head of Technical Services 0191 383 3465 

Page 46Page 12



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 

1. Finance   
There will be a cost involved appointing an inspector to hold the public 
inquiry and also staffing the public inquiry.   

 

2. Staffing  

A number of staff from Neighbourhood Services and Corporate & Legal 
Services will be directly involved for the duration of the public inquiry. 

 

3. Risk  None 
 
 

4. Equality and Diversity  

Equality Impact Assessment completed 

 

5. Accommodation None 

  

6. Crime and Disorder None 

 

7. Human Rights None 

  

8. Consultation 

Completed in accordance with the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
 

9. Procurement None 

 

10. Disability Discrimination Act  

Equality Impact Assessment completed 

 

11. Legal Implications  

The non statutory public inquiry is a recognised means of dealing with 
Traffic Regulation Orders and is considered a democratic means of 
determining the number of objections and representations received 
during the public consultation exercise. 

 

Page 47Page 13



 A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 2

 –
 L

o
c
a
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
 o

f 
th

e
 F

o
r
d

 

 

Page 48Page 14



Page 7 of 8 

APPENDIX 3 –Photographs of the Ford 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49Page 15



Page 8 of 8 

APPENDIX 4 – INCIDENT LOG & RIVER FLOW DATA ANALYSIS 
 
Durham Fire & Rescue Service provided the County Council with a list of incidents they had 
attended covering the period from 1st October 2001 to 31st December 2006, giving dates and 
times. The Council was made aware of a further two significant incidents post 2006, which 
have been recorded in the table below. The Council have been able to match the above 
incident data against Hydrograph records provided by Northumbrian Water / Environment 
Agency, who have a gauging station upstream of Stanhope Ford. 
 
For the purpose of the exercise, the Mean Average Annual Flow Rate of the River is 
recorded as 3.72cubic metres per second at Stanhope Gauging Station. 
 
Maximum Recorded Flow Rate reading 2001 to 2004 = 136 cu. m. per sec. 
 

Incident Date and Time River Flow Rate 
(cu.m per sec) 

Comments 

1 October 2001 : 1524hrs 20.30  

3 October 2001 : 1259hrs 5.61  

26 October 2001 : 0638hrs 4.37  

27 November 2001 :1348hrs 20.18  

29 December 2001 : 1631hrs 2.66  

17 January 2002 : 1739hrs 4.90  

16 March 2002 : 2014hrs 9.15  

24 May 2002 : 1844hrs 11.20  

29 December 2003 : 1511hrs Vehicle Stuck on Ice  

19 January 2004 : 1228hrs 23.3 Mercedes Van Incident 

18 August 2004 : 2050hrs 27.2 Mitsubishi 4x4 Incident 

24 October 2004 : 1345hrs 17.12 Audi Car Incident 

22 November 2004 : 14.22hrs 6.3 Flooded Engine 

21 January 2005 : 1245hrs 5 Stand-by call 

30 January 2005 : 1637hrs No data available 4 people stranded in car 

9 April 2005 : 1918hrs No data available Stand-by call 

4 December 2005 : 1108hrs 4.8 Recovered with Landrover 

17 December 2005 : 1302hrs No data available  

17 February 2006 : 1934hrs 3.7 Recovered with Landrover 

22 October 2006 : 1243hrs 11.7 RAF Helicopter Rescue 

23 November 2006 : 1321hrs 10.5 Landrover & winch used 

30 October 2007 : 0913hrs >20 Argos Delivery wagon 
(Before TRO imposed) 

01 April 2008 : 1027hrs >20 Peugeot Car 

 

It is known that increases in water depth on the River Wear can be rapid.   For 
example, on 19th March 2004, during a typical period of rainfall, a depth reading at 
the ford taken at    7.50 a.m. measured 250mm.  A further depth reading taken that 
same day at 1400 hrs measured 600mm.  

Page 50Page 16



 

 

Summary of Objections and Officer Responses 
 

1. The Closure of Stanhope Ford is a loss to Stanhope’s Heritage.  
 

a. The Traffic Regulation Order will close the ford to vehicular 
traffic in the interests of road safety. The stepping stones can 
still be utilised by pedestrians and the ford bed will be 
maintained in a condition that is safe for those wishing to paddle 
/ play within the river during the summer months. 

 
2. Loss of Tourism / Economic impact on Stanhope and Weardale 

 
a. The Council have researched visitor numbers at Tourist 

Information Centres in Weardale and Teesdale and have also 
assessed visitor numbers at other key tourist attractions 
including Bowes Museum, Killhope Lead Mine. Many have seen 
a reduction in annual visitor numbers in recent years we believe 
as a result of the current economic impact seen throughout the 
Country. Stanhope Ford has been closed to vehicles for the past 
two years and we have not found it possible to directly correlate 
the closure of Stanhope Ford with a loss of tourism within 
Stanhope 

 
3. Problems with Alternative Route “B6278 Stonebridge & C76 

Frosterley School” – (Unable to traverse Stonebridge bridge with 
abnormal loads, Extra traffic passing Frosterley School & Increased 
mileage and time using diversion route). 

 
a. Stonebridge on the B6278 upstream of Stanhope Ford has, like 

all bridges in County Durham, been assessed as being able to 
accommodate HGV loadings. A traffic count undertaken in 
November 2010 at Stonebridge shows an Annual Average Daily 
Traffic Flow of 724 vehicles per day. There have been no 
reported problems at Stonebridge in the past 2 years since 
Stanhope Ford has been closed to vehicular traffic. 

 
b. There is a requirement placed upon abnormal load hauliers to 

contact the Highway Authority when planning a route. As such 
all abnormal loads will be directed towards using the most 
suitable route taking into consideration the characteristics of the 
vehicle and known physical restrictions on the route such as 
bridge widths, weight limits, overhead cables etc. These vehicles 
are escorted either by the Police or the abnormal load company 
themselves. 

 
c. There is no planned construction works to be undertaken on the 

Stonebridge in the foreseeable future. If works were to be 
planned in the long term then a suitable diversion route would be 
agreed which would likely be via the C73 Frosterley. It is 
acknowledged that a Primary School takes direct frontage onto 
the C73 but a check of historic HGV traffic flows on this route 
shows a significant reduction since the closure of the Household 
Waste Disposal site located between Frosterley and Hill End. 

 

Page 17



 

 

4. Lack of historic repairs undertaken to protect the ford (Council has 
failed in its statutory duty to maintain the ford) 

 
a. Stanhope Ford, being a structure, is inspected as part of a 

routine annual inspection regime by the Council’s Structures 
Team. Additionally, like all other structures, Stanhope Ford is 
also inspected when it can be determined that structural damage 
may have occurred following periods of adverse rainfall.  

 
b. As with all roads and structures, there comes a time when year 

on year repairs and patching is no longer cost effective and 
major repair / replacement work is necessary, as is now the 
case with Stanhope Ford.   

 
c. As an example, the cost of repair work is set out in the table 

below: 
 

Date Cost of 
Repairs 

Nature of Repair 

September 
2000 

£1,000 Concrete Repairs 

May 2001 £620 Concrete Repair stepping 
stones 

April 2002 £201 Concrete Repair stepping 
stones 

November 
2002 

£4,250 Improved Signage 

June 2004 £1,333 Concrete Repair stepping 
stones 

July 2004 £500 Replace depth gauge and 
post 

June 2005 £700 Replace depth gauge and 
post (x2) 

May 2005 £1,770 Replace damaged signs and 
posts 

September 
2007 

£4,500 Installation of barriers and 
signage 

December 
2008 

£895 Replace depth gauge and 
post (x2) 

August 
2009 

£3,800 Concrete Repairs 

November 
2009 

£308 Replace depth gauge sign 
plate 

May 2010 £1,739 Concrete Repairs 

 
5. Restrict the size of vehicles using the ford to prevent damage 

 
a. The size and weight of vehicles using the ford was not an issue. 

The damage that is being caused is a result of progressive 
corrosion of the reinforcement bars and subsequent damage to 
the concrete structure of the ford, which is further weakened due 
to the force of the water during spate conditions. The upstream 
edge of the concrete ford deck has seen significant damage in 
the past couple of years. 

 

Page 18



 

 

6. Install Automatic Barriers, flashing lights, restraint systems 
 

a. The installation of costly automated barriers and signs that are 
remotely monitored and linked to rising water levels cannot 
provide a guaranteed method of closure because the technology 
used is complex and is not yet proven to be fully successful.  

 
b. There are risks associated with providing automated monitoring 

equipment within the river when it is known that debris such 
trees and other objects are washed down the river in spate 
conditions. It should be noted the number of occasions that the 
Council have had to replace the depth gauge signs and posts 
(Paragraph 36.3) to appreciate the on-going inherent 
maintenance liability.  

 
c. Determining what is a safe depth of water for vehicles to cross 

the ford is also problematic. As an example, a 4x4 vehicle would 
be able to cross the ford in deeper water than say a sports car 
which would have a lower engine air intake. The Council would 
potentially be a risk of receiving claims for damages to motor 
vehicles if the barriers are in the open position and it is seen by 
motorists to be safe to cross but this inevitably results in water 
ingress into the vehicle causing damage to the engine etc.  

 
d. Automated monitoring equipment has been trialled elsewhere in 

the County at such locations as: (a) the A66 Snow Gates, (b) 
Fore Bondgate, Bishop Auckland automated bollard and (c) the 
A689 Newton Cap Viaduct Wind Monitoring signs. All of these 
installations have been unable to offer a guaranteed safe 
solution, which is vitally important at this location due to a 
mixture of technology problems, vandalism, communication 
equipment problems and power outages. 

 
7. Bureaucratic “a pure indication of the nanny state” 

 
a. The Council is acting in the interests of public safety having 

gathered evidence dating back to 2000 showing incidents that 
have arisen at Stanhope Ford that have resulted in calls to the 
Emergency Services. Attempts have been made to improve the 
signage but motorists were still attempting to drive through the 
ford during spate conditions putting themselves and the 
emergency rescue services at risk.  

 
8. Costs of recovery should be sought from insurance companies 

 

a. Recharging for the cost of recovery is a matter for the 
emergency services to consider. There is no mandatory 
requirement placed upon the emergency services to charge for 
rescues. In many cases, the vehicle that has been recovered will 
have suffered significant damage through the ingress of water 
either into the vehicle itself or into the vehicles engine resulting 
in a costly insurance claim being made by the owner of the 
vehicle to his / her insurance company. 

 

Page 19



 

 

b. The typical cost to the Fire and Rescue Service and thus the 
community as a whole of attending and dealing with incidents at 
Stanhope Ford is reported as £828+VAT per hour.  

 
9. The Council should hold a Public Enquiry 

 
a. There is no statutory obligation placed upon a Highway Authority 

to undertake a Public Enquiry when progressing a Traffic 
Regulation Order under the provisions of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984.  

 
 

10. Emergency Services are taking their operations to the Extreme 
 

a. The Emergency Services are required to make a judgement at 
the scene as to the safest method of rescuing those involved, 
taking into consideration the conditions and equipment available 
without causing undue risk to themselves or the persons to be 
rescued. Modern day health and safety protocols must be taken 
into consideration at all times. 

 
11. Rural Weardale is again losing funding and DCC is wasting 

money elsewhere 
 

a. The County Council’s highway maintenance budget is targeted 
towards addressing its statutory duty of maintaining the highway 
network in a safe condition with the resources that are available 
in accordance with national best practice as determined by the 
‘Highway Safety Inspection Manual’. It is for other Services of 
the Council to determine their individual funding priorities. 

 
12. Depth Gauges give the wrong impression 

 
a. The depth gauges are of a standard design determined by the 

Department of Transport that follow the requirements of the 
Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2002. When 
the signs are affixed within the river bed, the position of the 
gauge is measured to correlate with the water level. It is known 
that the depth gauges require regular repairs as a result of 
debris such as large trees being washed downstream during 
spate conditions.  

 
13. Why are stepping stones to remain open to pedestrians if the 

ford is so problematic 
 

a. The Council have no intention of closing the stepping stones. 
These will remain available for pedestrians to cross the ford. Of 
the 23 incidents recorded by the Emergency Services since 
2000, these have all been vehicle related and it is motorists  that 
are continually putting themselves at risk when crossing the ford 
in spate conditions. 

 
 

Page 20



 

Report to Durham County Council 

by Malcolm Rivett BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by Durham County Council 

Date:   3 February 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

ROAD TRAFFIC REGULATION ACT 1984 

 

 

 

THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF DURHAM (UNCLASSIFIED STANHOPE 
FORD, STANHOPE) (PROHIBITION OF DRIVING) ORDER 2010 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date of Inquiry: 17 January 2012 – 19 January 2012 

Ref: DPI/X1355/11/21 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 21



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL        REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

CASE DETAILS           Page  1 

1 PREAMBLE            1 

2 DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS    1 

3 THE ORDER            2 

4 THE CASE OF DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL’S OFFICERS AND    2 
 THEIR SUPPORTERS        

5 THE CASES OF THE OBJECTORS TO THE ORDER     5 

6 THE CASE OF OTHER INTERESTED PERSONS      11 

7 WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS         11 

8 CONCLUSIONS            12 

9 RECOMMENDATION           17 

 

APPENDICES              

Appendix A - Appearances          18 

Appendix B - Documents Submitted Before the Inquiry     19 

Appendix C – Documents Submitted At the Inquiry      19 

 

 

 

Page 22



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 1 - 

  
 

CASE DETAILS 

• The Order would be made under Sections 1, 2 and 4 of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 and all other enabling powers and is known as: 

THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF DURHAM (UNCLASSIFIED STANHOPE FORD, 
STANHOPE) (PROHIBITION OF DRIVING) ORDER 2010. 

• The effect of the Order, if made, would be to prevent any vehicles from 
proceeding on the Unclassified Stanhope Ford, Stanhope from a point 83m 
south of its junction with the A689 in a southerly direction for a distance of 
some 100m to its junction with the B6278. 

Summary of Recommendation: I recommend that the Order is made   
 

1. PREAMBLE 

1.1  I was authorised by Durham County Council to hold a non-statutory Public 
Local Inquiry for the purpose of hearing objections and representations 
relating to the above draft Order.  

1.2 The Inquiry sat for three days from 17 January 2012 until 19 January 2012 at 
St Thomas’ Church Hall, Front Street, Stanhope. I carried out unaccompanied 
site inspections of the ford on each of the above days and, on the final day of 
the Inquiry, I visited locations in the surrounding area, referred to in evidence, 
including the fords at Westgate and Huntshield.   

1.3 At the commencement of the Inquiry there were 23 objections to the Order 
and two paper-based petitions and an online Facebook petition with a total of 
around 480 signatures. I have also been provided with copies of 10 
consultation response cards indicating a lack of objection to the scheme and a 
copy of one letter submitted in support of the Order.   

1.4 The draft Order was prepared and published by Durham County Council. In 
the light of the objections received the Council resolved to hold a non-
statutory Public Inquiry to consider the scheme. In opening the Inquiry I made 
it clear that, whilst I would make a recommendation to the Council as to 
whether or not the Order should be made, the final decision lies with the 
Council which is not bound to accept my recommendation. I also indicated 
that, in the light of the provisions of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, I 
would be seeking to ascertain whether or not it is expedient to make the 
Order, having particular regard to its advantages and disadvantages.  

1.5 At the Inquiry three officers of the County Council and representatives of 
Durham Constabulary and Durham Fire and Rescue Service gave evidence in 
support of the Order. Two County Councillors for the Weardale Ward, 
representatives of Stanhope Parish Council, the Beamish Reliability Run and 
the North East Club for Pre-War Austins and three local residents spoke in 
opposition to the Order. One local resident spoke giving her observations but 
indicated neither support for nor opposition to the Order. The Council officials 
confirmed that all the statutory formalities in connection with the promotion of 
the Order to this point have been completed correctly. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 

2.1 Stanhope Ford is an adopted, un-numbered, unclassified road across the River 
Wear close to the centre of Stanhope. It links the A689, which runs through 
Stanhope, with the B6278 on the south side of the river. The nearest other 

Page 23



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 2 - 

  
 

vehicular crossing of the river is the B2678, known as ‘Stonebridge’ which is 
around 600m to the west of the ford. The A689 links Stanhope westwards 
towards Alston and eastwards towards Bishop Auckland and Durham. The 
B6278 provides a north-south link between Consett and Barnard Castle, via 
Stanhope.  

2.2 In 2007 the County Council made an Order closing the ford to vehicular traffic 
between October and March each year. Shortly after its seasonal re-opening in 
April 2008 the ford was closed by the police using their emergency powers 
following an incident and it has remained so since under temporary traffic 
regulation orders. The ford is closed to vehicular traffic by means of metal 
barriers, although pedestrian use of it, including via stepping stones, is 
maintained.  

3. THE ORDER 

3.1 The proposed Order, if made, would permanently close the ford to vehicular 
traffic throughout the year. Pedestrian access across the river would continue 
to be maintained, including via the stepping stones.  

4. THE CASE OF DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL’S OFFICERS AND THEIR 
SUPPORTERS 

 Mrs Holding clarified that the case presented was that of the Durham County 
Council officers present at the Inquiry (and of supporting representatives of 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service and Durham Constabulary) 
and is not necessarily the formal view of the County Council as a whole. The 
material points are: 

4.1 The Council’s case focuses on the incidents at the ford which have 
necessitated the calling of the emergency services. The Council’s witnesses 
have provided evidence of the steps considered by the County Council in 
attempting to make the ford safer for vehicular usage during unsafe 
conditions. It is the Council’s duty to ensure the safety of all highway users, 
including users of the ford at Stanhope. Evidence has been provided of the 
number of incidents since 2000, which may be due to drivers who may not 
know the area well and who have taken a chance in crossing the ford when 
the conditions were unsuitable. Such incidents put the lives of drivers, their 
passengers and rescuers at risk and there is a cost attached to rescues.  

4.2 Adequate warning signs have been ignored and, thus, the Council initially 
concluded that an order prohibiting driving between 1 October and 31 March 
would solve the problem. Regrettably this action did not achieve its aim 
because a further incident occurred on the first day that the ford re-opened 
following its seasonal closure. The evidence (DCC/CD/4) is that these 
incidents can occur at any time of year. Whilst during late spring and summer 
incidents are not as frequent as in the autumn and winter there is no 
guarantee that such events will not occur at these times.  

4.3 Highway legislation does not authorise the Council or Police to impose the 
suggested £1000 penalty notice and only signs authorised by the Department 
for Transport regulations can be erected on the highway. In any case, 
regrettably the threat of prosecution for dangerous driving (which has been 
imposed in instances) has not proven a sufficient deterrent to prevent drivers 
from entering the ford in inappropriate conditions. 

4.4 Although the River Wear is not a “rapid responding river” (ie there is not 
threat of flooding to property within three hours), Mr Armin indicated that its 
level can rise rapidly to that likely to cause an incident at the ford. Such 

Page 24



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 3 - 

  
 

incidents can happen at any time of year, requiring vehicles to be rescued and 
placing lives at risk. Capital Symonds’ hydraulic modelling of the river 
demonstrates that storm events happen on a fairly regular but unpredictable 
basis throughout the year and can lead to increased water levels at the ford, 
in excess of what is considered to be safe. A 1 in 5 year storm event (ie a type 
of event which has a 20% chance of occurring in any one year) can lead to 
water levels 300mm above the base flow of 100mm. A 1 in 20 year storm will 
raise the river to 570mm within 7 hours and a 1 in 100 year storm could raise 
the level to 1000mm. 

4.5 Appendix 3 of Mr Armin’s evidence demonstrates that a rise in water levels to 
250mm can occur at the ford within 2 hours. Mr Atkinson, who knows the area 
well, stated that he would not take his vehicle across the ford if the water 
level were in excess of 150mm. Photographs indicate that incidents have 
occurred at water levels of around 300mm. Mr Armin has shown that the air 
intake of certain vehicles (eg the Subaru Impreza) can be as little as 350mm 
above the ground. If water enters the engine it can instantly cause a 
compression lock, leading to irreparable damage to the engine, the vehicle 
stalling and it needing to be rescued.  

4.6 The Environment Agency’s supplementary note Flood Hazard Ratings and 
Thresholds (Mr Armin’s Rebuttal evidence) indicates that, dependent on the 
speed of the flow, water levels of 200mm can be a danger to some people, 
including children, the elderly and the infirm and that at certain flow speeds a 
400mm water level can present a danger to everyone, including the 
emergency services. Debris in the water adds to the danger and water levels 
of 125mm-200mm can be reached at Stanhope Ford within less than 2 hours 
of rainfall. 

4.7 The stepping stones are 400mm above the height of the ford and the Parish 
Council have stated that it is considered unsafe for pedestrians to cross when 
the stones are covered by water. On the face of it pedestrians appear to heed 
this danger although some drivers seem unable to gauge the depth of the 
water despite the presence of depth gauges. This is not disputed by many of 
the objectors who have provided evidence. Indeed, Cllr Mews (for the Parish 
Council) acknowledged in cross-examination that, if the ford were to re-open 
to vehicles, there would be further incidents involving vehicles. 

4.8 Local residents consider that a build-up of rock and gravel downstream of the 
ford has caused increased water levels. However, removing these deposits 
would have implications in relation to contamination by heavy metals and 
impacts on ecology and may not preclude a fresh deposit of gravel at this 
location. The written statement of the Environment Agency appears to concern 
the deposit at “The Butts”, although the County Council officers believe that 
the conditions relating to this deposit would apply equally to that nearer the 
ford. In any case, in response to the Inspector’s question, Mr Wilcox made it 
clear that removal of the deposits near to the ford would have only minimal 
effect, reducing the water level at the ford by no more than 50mm. 

4.9 Consideration has been given to the installation of a telemetry warning system 
and automatic barriers. However, detailed assessment of the river’s 
characteristics would be required, a number of water gauges would be needed 
and determining the appropriate location for these would not be straight 
forward. Mr Armin’s evidence also refers to the added complication of 
discharges from Burnhope Reservoir which can take place without warning 
when river water levels are both high and low. It is accepted that telemetry 
could provide data on when/how the river is rising but it would not be 

Page 25



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 4 - 

  
 

provided in sufficient time to ensure that the ford is closed when it poses a 
risk to vehicular traffic. 

4.10 Mr Wilcox discounts as inappropriate the use of automatic barriers which could 
trap a motorist between them or be wilfully obstructed. Manual closure of 
barriers would also be problematic: it could take highway officers some time 
to mobilise closure of the ford, as they would not be based in Stanhope and 
could be deployed at other incidents at the time. Such officers might not be 
able to close the ford in time to prevent a dangerous incident. 

4.11 It was said in evidence that an agreement had been reached with the Fire and 
Rescue Service that retained duty fire-fighters at Stanhope could close the 
barrier when required. However, these officers could be attending another 
incident when needed to close the barriers. Use of local residents to close the 
ford has been considered but is deemed by Mr Wilcox to be inappropriate 
because it could not be guaranteed that they could be contacted or that they 
would respond. The point here is that it remains the County Council’s duty to 
ensure that access across the ford is safe. Consequently, Mr Wilcox believes 
that the safety of the public travelling by vehicle can only be achieved by 
closing the ford. 

4.12 It is claimed that the ford’s closure to vehicular traffic will lead to loss of 
tourism although, other than anecdotes, no evidence or data indicates that 
this would be the case. Whilst the number of inquiries at Tourist Information 
Centres in Teesdale and Weardale indicates a reduction in tourism generally 
this may be due to the economic climate. It is difficult to prove that not being 
able to access the ford by vehicles has, in itself, had an impact on tourism. 
Use of the ford on foot, and recreational events, would not be precluded by 
the Order and the tourism feature offered by the ford would still be available. 

4.13 There is no need for vehicles to cross the ford for access purposes and 
Stonebridge is a suitable alternative route only ¾ mile longer. Mr Poole 
provided evidence that the bridge is suitable for 40 tonne lorries and therefore 
caters for all but abnormal loads. This being the case there should be no 
reason for motorists to divert onto the C73 passing Frosterley Primary School. 
The problems occurring there are, according to the evidence of Mr Straugheir, 
typical of school gate parking problems prevalent throughout the County.  

4.14 In conclusion there is considerable risk to the public when the ford is open and 
water levels increase. Methods for closing the ford in such conditions are not 
guaranteed and therefore risks to motorists and rescuers cannot be 
eliminated. Keeping the ford open to vehicles is not acceptable in the 
circumstances, particularly when the alternative route via Stonebridge does 
not create an unreasonably lengthy diversion. Suggestions that closure of the 
ford has been promoted by the Council because of its poor condition have 
been discredited by Mr Poole and, indeed, the Parish Council accept that it is 
in reasonable condition. Furthermore, Mr Wilcox confirmed that funding will be 
found for maintenance of the ford. Mr Poole stated that it has been 
appropriately maintained to date, but accepts that the usual two year check 
on the ford is due soon and that possible works will be required. If works are 
required it may be necessary to close the ford during the summer period for 
the works to be undertaken, dependent on the nature of the repairs and the 
requirements of the Environment Agency. 

4.15 It is strongly asserted by officers of the County Council that prohibiting driving 
across the ford is the only guaranteed method of ensuring safety to the public. 
Clearly, if some method could be devised in the future which would guarantee 
the safety of users the Order could be revoked and vehicular rights reinstated. 

Page 26



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 5 - 

  
 

Regrettably this cannot be achieved at this time. It is considered that the 
public safety benefits in closing the ford outweigh any disbenefits asserted by 
objectors to the Order. Therefore, it is considered expedient to make the 
Traffic Regulation Order.  

5. THE CASES OF THE OBJECTORS TO THE ORDER 

 The material points are: 

 Stanhope Parish Council 

5.1 Several witnesses agree with the Parish Council that the ford is a major tourist 
attraction in its own right with many visitors congregating in the area. They 
are also agreed that the ford is important to the local economy. Tourism is 
very important to the economy of the dale and is growing to replace declining 
heavy industry. Outside of the winter months Stanhope is a very busy tourist 
destination which increases the pressure on local infrastructure and, in 
particular, the roads. Weardale has never had its fair share of expenditure on 
infrastructure which struggles to cope with large flows of traffic in the summer 
months. Alternative routes to Teesdale and Barnard Castle are B and C roads 
and many are unsuitable for heavy traffic. 

5.2 In the 1990s Hag Bridge at Eastgate was badly damaged by a storm and had 
to be closed. For about a year people living on the south side of the river were 
cut-off from Eastgate and had a 6 mile round trip to get to the village. If there 
were to be damage to Stonebridge the alternative route would be past 
Frosterley School, where there are already traffic/parking problems. This is 
local knowledge which the County Council does not have. 

5.3 The ford is already closed to vehicles between October and March so the 
Inquiry should only focus on evidence and actions in the period between 1 
April and 30 September. The evidence and actions in the closed period cannot 
be relevant. 

5.4 It is clear that no discussion has taken place between the County Council and 
the Environment Agency about the installation of automatic vehicle barriers at 
the ford and it states that continued use of the ford by vehicles is not likely to 
raise any immediate concerns of pollution or flood risk. The Agency’s 
comments about gravel deposits refer to those at “The Butts” and no 
assessment of the gravel closer to the ford has taken place by either the 
Agency or the County Council. There is no evidence to show that there is 
agreement between the Agency and County Council as to the implications of 
the removal of the gravel near to the ford. Furthermore, there is no technical 
evidence to indicate that the gravel deposits are causing increased water 
levels at the ford.  

5.5 Much of Mr Wilcox’s evidence must be considered irrelevant – the traffic flow 
survey was undertaken in January (ie outside the period of relevance to the 
Order) and there is not accurate data available for the summer months. The 
tourist data is flawed as it only relates to visits to the Tourist Information 
Office and not to use of the ford. The County Council has failed to provide 
accurate data about use of the ford. 

5.6 The County Council has also given contradictory statements as to the 
condition of the ford. In the past the Council has said that the ford is 
uneconomic to repair (and this was used as a reason for closing it to traffic) 
although this has been contradicted at the Inquiry by Mr Poole. Indeed, he 
said that no recent inspection of the ford, or costing of necessary repairs, has 
been undertaken. This is not acceptable and the information put forward 

Page 27



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 6 - 

  
 

cannot be relied on. It is also apparent that little has been spent on the ford in 
recent years – a total of £8,939 between 2000 and 2010 with nothing spent 
between 2001 and 2009. It is clear that lack of maintenance in recent years 
has resulted in the need for urgent repairs to keep it in good condition. This 
view is supported by Mr Jolley and Cllr Savory. We believe that the County 
Council deliberately let the ford deteriorate knowing that it could be used as 
part of a future plan to close it permanently. 

5.7 We also dispute the evidence of Mr Armin which should be examined by an 
independent expert. This is a difficult area and the County Council should have 
employed the services of an outside expert to ensure credibility, rather than 
relying on a member of its own staff. Mr Armin stated that the filling-in of 
drainage gulleys on the fells would have minimal impact although local 
farmers and gamekeepers have confirmed to the Parish Council that it will 
have a big impact on river depths. Until the submission of the County 
Council’s written evidence we were unaware of the possibility of raising the 
height of the ford. However, this could dam the river and is an option we 
would oppose. 

5.8 Many people have spoken in support of automatic barriers. If they can be 
safely used on high speed rail crossings then similar technology must be 
available for the ford. However, the County Council has dismissed this out of 
hand without any requests for detailed information or costings for this type of 
equipment. This is a dereliction of duty on the part of the County Council. 

5.9 The penalty for crossing the ford in flood conditions should be made clear by 
signage and drivers who become stuck should face the full force of the law. 
Everybody is responsible for their own actions. We are not a ‘Nanny State’ 
although some people would like to think we are. The Fire and Rescue Service 
has campaigned to have the ford closed but looking at their record they have 
been consistent in being inconsistent. All of their reasons for not undertaking 
water rescue are feeble and there is a lack of evidence as to what are their 
procedures for permitting fire-fighters to enter the water. Local fire-fighters at 
Stanhope should be trained to a level to enable them to deal with incidents in 
flood conditions. Weardale is not adequately covered for swift water rescue. 
This is a disgrace given the rural landscape and the fact that, as Council Tax 
payers we are entitled to the same service levels as any other area.  

5.10 Incidents which occurred outside the period 1 April to 30 September are not 
relevant to the Order. The data shows that only 11 incidents occurred during 
this period between 2000 and 2008. More importantly only three of these 
incidents involved rescues by the Fire Service or RAF. [Inspector’s Note: the 
data (DCC/CD/4) suggests that four out of the 10 ‘summer’ period incidents 
involved Fire Service rescues and one by the RAF. Other incidents involved the 
emergency services in recovering vehicles. In an open session at the Inquiry 
nobody present suggested that this data is incorrect]. On this basis the ford is 
hardly dangerous and there is no reason to close it. The ‘open period’ of the 
ford has never been given a fair chance. Despite requests for it there is also 
no information to show how many times the specialist water rescue unit based 
at Bishop Auckland has attended incidents at the ford. It is vital evidence and 
its absence suggests that it would embarrass the Fire Service.  

5.11 The last incident which occurred on the 1 April 2008 was a minor one 
involving no action by the Fire Service. Nonetheless, the police used their 
emergency powers to close the ford. We believe the emergency services and 
County Council used this as an opportunity to have the ford closed 
permanently: a disgraceful act. 

Page 28



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 7 - 

  
 

5.12 The results of this Inquiry will have far reaching consequences for any ford in 
the country, of which there are over 1,800, 49 of which, like Stanhope, are 
classed as tourist attractions in their own right and receive a Five Star rating. 
Closure of Stanhope Ford could set a dangerous precedent for the closure of 
other fords, ruining the countryside as we know it. 

5.13 The Prime Minister has pledged to tackle the “health and safety monster” to 
make sure that businesses and public services feel that they can get on 
without the threat of litigation. It must be stressed that there has never been 
a fatality or serious injury at Stanhope Ford. There are risks in everything we 
do and if we are to stop everything in the name of health and safety we might 
as well stop living. The Fire Service and Police seem more concerned about 
the Health and Safety of their officers. They clearly need to take a closer look 
at themselves because we have lost the status of a civilised nation when 
people who enter the rescue services to save lives choose to put their own 
first. 

5.14 In conclusion the evidence of the County Council, Police and Fire Service is 
inconsistent, lacking credibility and deeply flawed. Behind it are collusion and 
a plan to close the ford at any cost. The evidence presented does not justify 
its closure. These authorities have no mandate to go against the wishes of the 
vast majority of the local people and Stanhope Parish Council, the most local 
democratically elected authority. The application to close the ford should be 
dismissed. 

Cllr John Shuttleworth  

5.15 Cllr Shuttleworth has represented the people of Weardale (including 
Stanhope) since 1997. The issue of the ford has resurrected itself quite a 
number of times; more so since the introduction of satellite navigation for 
vehicles. Part of the cause of the flooding is due to the creation, by the 
National Rivers Authority (the predecessor of the Environment Agency), of a 
chicane downstream of the ford. There is resistance to the removal of the 
gravel downstream of the ford and consequently there have been numerous 
sudden floods which have caused vehicles to be stranded. In their letter of 25 
June 2008 (appendix to INQ/1) the Environment Agency acknowledges that 
they would not have built such a structure in a water course today. 

5.16 It is fair to say that, because of the various incidents which have occurred, 
local people accept the seasonal closure of the ford for vehicular traffic 
between 1 October and 31 March. However the ford is something of a tourist 
attraction with its stepping stones and scenery. It would be detrimental to the 
local economy to have a permanent closure and local people oppose this. 

5.17 Prior to the Highways Committee Report which recommended the matter be 
considered at a Public Inquiry, a previous uncirculated report (appendix to 
INQ/1) recommended closure of the ford. The County Council is deliberately 
passing the determination of the issue to an independent Inspector at great 
expense to the Council Tax payer. Anyone not from the area would certainly 
recommend the ford’s closure based on the County Council’s submission and 
the views of the majority of the statutory consultees who, with links to the 
Council, have been influenced to support the Order. The uncirculated report 
states that there are no financially viable, workable solutions to overcome the 
problems of flash flooding and rising water levels. However, the email of 9 
January 2012 from the Fire and Rescue Service’s Director of Community 
Protection (appendix to INQ/1) indicates that the service feels the ford is a 
relatively safe method of crossing the river when water levels are low. The 
email also indicates the Service’s willingness to utilise their staff, based at 

Page 29



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 8 - 

  
 

Stanhope, to open/close barrier during severe weather conditions. The County 
Council appears to have resisted looking at this option. 

5.18 The County Council’s submission is flawed in that there is an economically 
viable and workable solution to the flash flooding problem. It should be 
compelled to discuss the closure of the barriers during any floods with the Fire 
and Rescue Service.  

Cllr Anita Savory 

5.19 Cllr Savory represents the residents of Weardale. Stanhope Ford is a unique 
part of the heritage of the residents of the area. Over the years it has been 
the sole reason for many tourists to travel with their families to enjoy the 
memorable experience of crossing the ford in their vehicle whilst spending the 
day around the riverside and the nearby children’s recreation facility. It is a 
cost-free venue in contrast with the huge entry fees of many children-
orientated attractions. One may argue that on a summer’s day there in no 
better venue in the County. 

5.20 The closure of some of the dale’s major industries means that tourism is vital 
to the area and to so many of its small businesses which depend on visitors. A 
recent conversation with a local business indicates that trade has been poor 
since the ford has been closed. Businesses depend on summer trade to 
sustain them through the winter months. Mr Wilcox, for the County Council, 
recognises the ford to be a popular attraction for locals and tourists during the 
summer months. And, as one of the few fords in the country which traverses a 
main river, it is surely worth preserving.  The ford is every bit as important to 
Stanhope as High Force is to Teesdale and Hardwick Park is to Sedgefield.  

5.21 Local residents are fully aware of how and when to safely cross the river by 
the ford. When it is closed traffic must use Stonebridge, although this is 
narrow and cannot accommodate some larger trucks which must travel via 
Bollihope and negotiate a steep incline passing Frosterley Primary School. The 
road is narrow here and has no footpath on one side and this presents danger 
for school children and mothers with prams and pushchairs. In time trucks 
must weaken the strength of Stonebridge which would then need repair. How 
much would this cost and what alternative route would there be if the ford 
were permanently closed?  

5.22 The County Council’s survey states that in January 2007 an average of 50 
vehicles a day used the ford, but we have no accurate figures of just how 
many vehicles crossed the ford safely. This is a vital piece of evidence needed 
in order to determine the future of the ford. 

5.23 There have been 28 incidents at the ford, ten of which occurred during the 
summer months. Obviously safety is an issue so stricter penalties should be 
imposed on motorists who use the ford recklessly. Road crossings of railways 
carry a stern warning with a penalty of up to £1000. Could this not be tried at 
the ford as the consequence for having to be rescued? Other highways, many 
of which give clear warnings of accident statistics, carry risks but remain 
open.  

5.24 The Beamish Rally group have safely used the ford for 42 years – this is an 
event which brings visitors to, and boosts the economy of, the dale. Sadly a 
fatality occurred at High Force in Teesdale in 2010, but this is still open to the 
public. Yet, the ford at Stanhope, where there have been no fatalities, is under 
the real threat of permanent closure. 

5.25 Very little has been spent on repairs to the ford over the years and now cost, 

Page 30



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 9 - 

  
 

as well as health and safety, is being cited as an issue. However, culture is 
priceless and every avenue should be explored to keep the ford open 
throughout the summer months so this unique landmark can be safely 
enjoyed by future generations. Weardale folk are passionate about keeping 
the ford open: listen to their voice.  

Harry Irwin 

5.26 Jobs in Weardale are scarce and tourism represents the main industry for job 
creation in the future: we cannot afford to dismiss any opportunity to enhance 
the attractiveness of the locale to visitors. This is demonstrated by the Spatial 
Vision for County Durham, prepared by the County Council, which states the 
intention that by 2030 County Durham will have a thriving economy and that 
locations such as Stanhope will be known for their high quality of life and will 
be realising their tourism potential. 

5.27 Stanhope ford is one of the UK’s few five star rated fords; it is part of the 
heritage of the dale and attracts motor rallies (Beamish Run in June and the 
Land’s End to John O’Groats run in December). The traffic survey, undertaken 
at the quietest period, shows an average of 50 vehicles a day using the ford – 
a minimum annual total of 18,200. Against this there has been slightly over 
one rescue per annum which puts the problem in the right prospective. 
[Inspector’s Note: the agreed evidence (DCC/CD/4) indicates 28 incidents in 8 
years – 3.5 per year]. 

5.28 Stanhope Parish Council have detailed the tiny sums of money invested by the 
County Council in the upkeep of the ford so the need for repair is not 
surprising. However, their own costing for repairs amounts to only a few 
thousand pounds per year for ten years. This is an acceptable amount to help 
realise the objectives of the County Council’s own plan. 

5.29 Health and safety concerns have been blown out of all proportion and one 
must question if this has been encouraged as part of a strategy to close the 
ford. As a retained fire officer Mr Irwin practised the rescue procedures at 
least once a year using a rocket and line, followed by secure attachment of a 
rope across the river upstream of any vehicle allowing firemen to safely reach 
a vehicle with the flow of the river behind them. Now that local fire-fighters 
are not allowed to enter the river we have to depend on a special water team, 
with no local knowledge, which can take up to 40 minutes to arrive. Well-
practised, conventional methods with local fire-fighters (who have indicated 
their willingness to implement them) would be far quicker. Unnecessary, over-
reacting use of helicopters has created unwanted media attention which is 
mainly responsible for the proposed closure. 

5.30 There are almost 2,000 fords across the country and nowhere else does it 
seem necessary to use such a costly and complicated method for simple 
recoveries of people and vehicles from water. The ford at Reading has many 
more rescues each year, none of which require helicopters. 

5.31 The Prime Minister has stated that our society has become risk averse in the 
extreme and that the government is seeking ways to unwind the unjustifiable 
use by bureaucrats of health and safety as a justification for the prevention of 
normal activities by adults and children. The ford should remain open all year, 
closed only during floods either by automatic barriers or manually controlled 
ones which could be operated by Council employees at the nearby Newtown 
House old people’s home.  

 

Page 31



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 10 - 

  
 

Beamish Safety and Reliability Run 

5.32 The ford is an historic byway in use for upwards of 1500 years. It is a 
convenient crossing point of the River Wear for locals and visitors. It is 
important to tourism in Stanhope. Mr Jolley has personally used the ford for 
upwards of 55 years, as have others in the pursuit of hobbies and pleasure, 
and why should this be interrupted? We pay too many road taxes for the 
admitted lack of maintenance of the ford to occur. 

5.33 The Beamish Safety and Reliability Run for vintage and old vehicles was 
restarted in 1970/71 over routes used between 1918 and 1939. The event is 
nationally and internally recognised and attracts up to 150 entrants from near 
and far. Stanhope Ford is an important integral component of the route, as it 
is for many other similar events. The British historic vehicle movement is 
shown to sustain a £4bn industry (INQ/5).  

5.34 The so-called incidents at the ford were not caused by our use but mainly by 
modern, off-road type vehicles in which the driver feels invincible. These 
vehicles should not be available to the general motoring public and should be 
prohibited from use of the ford, as is the case in other areas. During our use 
of the ford we have six experienced marshals and we do not permit its use if 
the water flow rate or level makes it unsuitable. Sensible people should not be 
inconvenienced by the reckless few. This is grossly unfair: the latter should 
take the punishment not the majority. A penalty notice, say a charge of at 
least £1,000, should be levied if a miscreant causes an emergency. 

5.35 Today’s technology would surely allow a water flow meter and river depth 
gauging equipment which would trigger warning lamps and close a gate. The 
alternative route via the bridge will not last forever – it is an 18th century 
structure on roman foundations. It would cost many times more than the ford 
to repair. 

5.36 If the closure goes ahead there will be much local discontent with political 
repercussions.  

North East Club for Pre-War Austins 

5.37 The club, and other similar ones, are an important part of the area’s tourist 
industry. Since the closure of the ford four vehicle events are no longer 
passing through Stanhope. Surely telemetry offers a solution to closing the 
ford only during flood conditions. There have been no fatalities at the ford and 
the Environment Agency does not fully support the County Council.   

Mr Atkinson 

5.38 Mr Atkinson has been a resident of Stanhope for 27 years. The evidence heard 
from objectors challenges the financial data put forward by the County 
Council. The Council has insisted that safety is the paramount consideration 
yet there have been no injuries or fatalities at the ford. Rather than merely 
indicating the depth of the water the gauges at the ford should indicate the 
level at which it is dangerous to cross. Barriers, closing when the water depth 
exceeds 100-150mm, should be considered. 

Mr Thompson 

5.39 It is clear that money was the original motive of the County Council in seeking 
to close the ford, yet £100,000 is not very much money. However, the Council 
is now stating that health and safety is the main reason for the proposed 
closure. Mr Thompson has traversed the ford at least 4,000 times without 
incident, but some modern vehicles are not fit to go through the ford. 

Page 32



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 11 - 

  
 

5.40 Helicopters are not needed for rescues at the ford and the emergency services 
should charge motorists the full costs of any recovery. There are other 
dangerous roads and places – why not close them too? The Weardale Area 
Action Partnership supports continued vehicle use of the ford [Inspector’s 
Note: the letter of 17 November 2010 from the Partnership (DCC/DJW/11) 
states “in principle the board agreed that they would like to see the ford 
remain open subject to it being safe and financially viable”].  

6. THE CASE OF OTHER INTERESTED PERSONS 

Mrs Davies 

6.1 Mrs Davies, who lives close to the ford, neither supports nor opposes the 
Order, but merely wishes to inform the Inquiry of her observations. She used 
to find it convenient to use the ford, particularly to go to Teesdale, but 
stopped using it after splashing some children on the stepping stones.  

6.2 After the ford’s emergency, and then temporary, closure all year round in 
2008 a large number of vehicles, including large lorries tried to cross it and 
were forced to turn round at the barrier. Mrs Davies eventually realised that 
satnavs were directing vehicles to use the ford and she believes that heavy 
vehicles may have caused damage to the ford and the surface of the road 
leading to it.  

6.3 She is concerned about the impact on children playing at the ford if heavy 
vehicles were to be using it and also understands that some irresponsible 
holidaymakers have driven to and fro across it with the deliberate intention of 
splashing people. 

6.4 When the weather is good tourists will come whether or not the ford is open. 
Parking can be an issue and if there were more parking spaces then more 
people would stay in the area and not just drive straight over the ford. The 
Beamish Rally is an attraction for spectators but the cars do not stop at 
Stanhope.  

6.5 Mrs Davies does not know what the solution is. Could the local MP investigate 
the satnav problem? If closed could the ford be maintained for vehicles from 
rallies to traverse it when the barrier could be opened? If the barrier had been 
left closed for a few more days in April 2008 the last incident could have been 
avoided.  

7. WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS 

 Environment Agency 

7.1 The Environment Agency indicated by return of a consultation response card 
that it had no objections to the Order. An email of 21 January 2011 
(DCC/DJW/15) sets out its views in more detail on a number of points: (i) that 
removal of gravel in the river has implications in relation to the heavy metal 
content, the disturbance of ecology and the likelihood of re-deposition; (ii) 
that raising the level of the ford could have property flooding and fisheries 
implications (iii) that floating barriers at the ford may not be suitable; and (iv) 
the agency would investigate and consider the potential for telemetry. 

7.2 For the Inquiry itself Mary Weatherby, Environment Agency Asset System 
Management Team Leader, submitted a written statement. She indicates that 
she would not attend the Inquiry because of time factors and in order to 
remain neutral and not prejudice the consideration of any future applications 
to the Agency for works consents. The material points of the statement are: 

7.3 Continued use of the ford for pedestrian use and play by children is not likely 

Page 33



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 12 - 

  
 

to raise any immediate concerns of pollution or flood risk, although the agency 
reserves its position in the event of such incidents occurring in the future. It is 
likely that physical works to improve the ford or make it safer for vehicles 
would require the agency’s consent. Whilst the agency cannot reasonably 
withhold consent any such works must not increase flood risk to local property 
or land, increase scour or erosion of the river bed or banks or have a 
detrimental impact on fisheries or biodiversity. Byelaw consent may be 
required for automatic barriers and/or warning systems. No comment is made 
as to the possible merits or demerits of any works to the ford. 

Other Written Representations 

7.4 In addition to those who spoke at the Inquiry letters and consultation 
response cards indicating objection to the Order were received from 17 
people/organisations, mostly local residents. These primarily echo sentiments 
expressed by objectors who spoke at the Inquiry including the 
heritage/tourism value of the ford, the need to fine motorists who require 
rescue, the potential for closure only during floods and the inappropriateness 
of the ‘Nanny State’ punishing the majority of sensible drivers for the reckless 
behaviour of a few.  

7.5 A handwritten petition, indicating “complete opposition” to the Order, was 
signed by 82 people and, as of 18 November 2010, a Facebook listing 
contained 350 or so signatures. This listing states that the ford is a unique and 
historic river crossing, a vital piece of infrastructure and a key tourist 
attraction in an area greatly dependent on tourism. As part of its written 
evidence the Beamish Safety and Reliability Run submitted a petition of 51 
signatures objecting to the ford’s closure to vehicles on the grounds of its 
convenience, heritage and tourism value.  

7.6 In addition to that submitted by the Environment Agency, seven consultation 
response cards were returned indicating ‘no objection’ to the Order, several 
people using the card to indicate active support for the closure. A further ‘no 
objection’ return was made without a name or address. 

8. CONCLUSIONS 

 References in [square brackets] are to earlier paragraphs of this report. 

 Advantage which would arise from the Order 

8.1 Whilst it is generally agreed that, when the water levels are low, the ford is a 
relatively safe way of crossing the river by vehicle [5.17] (and that many 
vehicles safely do so), DCC/CD/4 indicates that in the seven years between 
April 2001 and April 2008 ten incidents involving the recovery of vehicles from 
the ford occurred during the months between April and September. This 
equates to one incident every four months or so. Whilst such incidents 
occurred more frequently in the October – March period (18 between October 
2000 and March 2007) I consider the number and frequency of the ‘summer’ 
period (ie April – September) incidents to be both significant and undesirable.  

8.2 I recognise that a number of the ‘summer’ period incidents did not involve the 
Fire and Rescue service [5.10] and that none resulted in a fatality or serious 
injury [5.37]. However, to my mind, becoming stranded in a vehicle in a main 
river and the driver and passengers having to extricate themselves and their 
vehicle, or be rescued by the emergency services or members of the public, is 
inherently dangerous and the risk of serious injury or death to everybody 
involved is considerable. Elimination of these incidents by closure of the ford 
to vehicular traffic would, therefore, be a benefit of significant weight. 

Page 34



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 13 - 

  
 

DCC/CD/4 indicates that there have been no incidents since the 
emergency/temporary year-round closure was effected. 

Disadvantages which would result from the Order 

8.3 It is common ground that the ford is a notable tourist attraction in Weardale 
[5.1, 5.20] and the Stanhope Town Map leaflet (INQ/8) and a number of local 
tourism websites (INQ/7) suggest that it is a feature of Stanhope worth 
visiting. There is also no dispute that the area’s economy is increasingly 
reliant on tourism [5.26]. However, actual evidence on the number of tourists 
visiting the area prior and subsequent to the ford’s temporary year-round 
closure is sketchy. DCC/DJW/18 does not provide a clear picture of changes in 
the number of tourists visiting the information centres and attractions in 
Weardale and Teesdale in recent years. Moreover, although visitors to 
Stanhope Tourist Information Centre declined by around 10% in 2008 and 
2009 in comparison with 2005-2007 there is nothing to indicate that this is 
related to the ford as opposed to the difficult economic situation since 2008, 
the weather or other factors [4.12]. Whilst a number of objectors strongly 
believe that visitor numbers to Stanhope have reduced since 2008 as a direct 
result of the ford’s closure to vehicles [5.20] I have seen nothing to 
substantiate this. 

8.4 It appears to me that there are likely to be some motorists who would choose 
not to visit the ford if they were unable to drive through it and reference has 
been made to the historic vehicle rallies which no longer pass through the 
area [5.37], although notably Mr Jolley indicated, in response to my question, 
that the number of participants in the Beamish Safety and Reliability Rally has 
not reduced since the ford’s closure.  The Order would not prevent walking 
across the ford or the stepping stones or children playing in the river, 
activities which I understand are enjoyed by many people particularly on 
sunny summer days [5.19]. Moreover, whilst the novelty of seeing vehicles 
drive through a river would be lost, the absence of vehicles on the ford 
(including some relatively large ones) would, to my mind, make for a much 
safer and more attractive venue for children to play, and one which could be 
promoted to tourists by the local community. 

8.5 Although the ford would remain, its heritage value would to some degree be 
diminished by the prohibition of vehicular traffic across it. However, if its 
existence for 1500 years or more is correct [5.32], then motorised traffic (the 
primary concern of objectors) has used it for only a limited period of its overall 
existence. Furthermore, I was advised at the Inquiry that there are two other 
highway fords across the River Wear within 10 km or so of Stanhope, neither 
of which have any restriction over vehicular use. Whilst neither are as long as 
that at Stanhope (or enjoy its five star rating by the www.wetroads.co.uk) 
[5.12, 5.27] their presence, and potential use by motorists keen to enjoy the 
experience of driving through a river, limits to a considerable degree the loss 
of Weardale’s heritage which would result from the Order. 

8.6 The alternative route to use of the ford (via Stonebridge) is longer by a little 
over a kilometre [4.13], although no serious argument has been put forward 
that this is a significant inconvenience for people in vehicles. Objectors make 
more of Stonebrige’s limitations [5.2, 5.21, 5.35]. However, whilst the 
bridge’s width and visibility are not ideal for large vehicles its use by such 
vehicles (or the use of the bridge at Frosterley near the Primary School) is, to 
my mind, preferable to the use of the ford, particularly as that is a location in 
which children are encouraged to play. In any case, Stonebridge or the 
Frosterley route have to be used by all vehicles in the winter months when the 

Page 35



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 14 - 

  
 

ford is closed, such closure being supported by the majority of objectors 
[5.16]. It is of course the case that Stonebridge may need to be closed at 
some point for repairs or reconstruction, although that is the case with most 
river crossings and does not, to my mind, justify unrestricted vehicular use of 
the ford in the summer months.  

Alternatives to the Order  

8.7 Mr Wilcox suggests that the gravel which has built-up a short distance 
downstream of the ford may have resulted in increased water levels at the 
ford itself and, thus, its removal has been investigated. However, whilst I note 
that the County Council and Environment Agency appear to have, to some 
extent, corresponded at cross-purposes about this matter [5.4], it seems to 
me that the presence of heavy metals and a protected beetle in the gravel is 
likely and would make its removal difficult or impossible [4.8]. In any case, 
the County Council argues that removal of the gravel would be likely to have 
an insignificant (no more than 50mm [4.8]) impact on water levels at the 
ford, and although I have seen little to substantiate this there is also no 
detailed evidence to contradict it. 

8.8 It makes sense that infilling of drainage gulleys on the fells will reduce water 
levels in the Wear [5.7], although in the absence of details of the precise 
extent and impact of this it seems to me unlikely that it would have a 
significant effect on water levels at the ford during or after storms.  

8.9 Raising of the level of the ford has also been considered, but the County 
Council’s argument that this would be likely to increase the threat of flooding 
to nearby property is persuasive and I also note that it is not an option 
supported by the Parish Council [5.7]. 

8.10 In theory I see the attraction of telemetry which could predict increased water 
levels at the ford and trigger either automatic or manual closure of barriers to 
prevent its use by vehicles. However, at some 171 sq km (para 3.1 of Mr 
Armin’s Proof of Evidence), the catchment area of the river at the ford is very 
large and it includes a significant number of tributaries of the River Wear. The 
water level at the ford at any particular time would vary according to the 
amount and precise location of precipitation and ground saturation levels and 
I envisage that it would be very difficult to accurately predict. Predictions 
would be further complicated by discharges from Burnhope Reservoir [4.9].  

8.11 Furthermore, even if a reliable forecast of water levels at the ford could be 
made in sufficient time to take appropriate action, it is by no means clear at 
what depth of water the ford should be closed. Para 5.3 of Mr Armin’s 
evidence indicates that 350mm deep water would be likely to cause problems 
for a Subaru Impreza whilst a Mitsubishi L200 would be able to adequately 
traverse water up to 800mm deep. At the Inquiry some objectors suggested 
that they would not cross the ford in a vehicle if the water was more than 
400mm deep (ie the depth at which the stepping stones are covered by 
water), whilst others suggested a level of 100-150mm [5.38]. It seems to me 
that if the most cautious approach were to be adopted, the ford would need to 
be closed during/after even limited amounts of rain almost anywhere in the 
catchment area, preventing its use by many vehicles which would have been 
safely able to traverse it. Conversely, if a less cautious approach were to be 
taken to closure of the ford vehicles with lower than average level air intakes 
would be at significant risk of ‘failing’ mid-river. For this reason I consider the 
suggestion of water level gauges indicating a dangerous level [5.38] to be 
impractical: what is a safe level for one type of vehicle would be hazardous for 
another.  

Page 36



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 15 - 

  
 

8.12 Ensuring closure of the barriers themselves would also be problematic. I agree 
with the County Council that the potential for obstruction of automatic barriers 
indicates the need for manual closure [4.10]. However, it is not clear who 
could be relied on to close and open the barriers at the correct time across 24 
hours a day for six months of the year. The County Council does not have 
highways staff stationed in the vicinity and I consider use of Council staff at 
the nearby old people’s home [5.31] would be highly inappropriate as their 
primary responsibility would, at all times, be the care of their residents. 
Moreover, retained fire-fighters at Stanhope could be attending other incidents 
when needed at the ford [4.11]. It has been suggested that telemetry 
controlled barriers at the ford would be akin to railway crossings of roads 
[5.8]. However, the passage of trains is far more predictable and controllable 
than river water. In any case railway crossings are generally considered to be 
a risky and undesirable element of the country’s transport network. 

8.13 Many objectors suggest that fines (eg £1,000) for either crossing the ford 
recklessly or for requiring rescue would be sufficient deterrent [5.9, 5.23, 
5.34] to prevent reoccurrence of the incidents which have happened in recent 
years. However, it is not clear under what powers the County Council or 
emergency services could levy such fines [4.3]. More fundamentally I am not 
persuaded that they would be likely to be effective. Bearing in mind the 
danger at which they put themselves and their passengers and the cost of the 
damage to their vehicles, it seems unlikely to me that any of the drivers 
involved in the incidents of recent years would have been dissuaded from 
using the ford by the possibility of a fine. I consider it most likely that these 
drivers used the ford in the mistaken belief that it was safe for them to do so, 
not because there was no threat of a fine. 

8.14 Even if it proved legally possible to ban certain ‘at risk’ makes of vehicle from 
using the ford [5.34], it appears to me that enforcement of this would be 
almost impossible.  

8.15 In the light of the above I therefore conclude that, at the present time (and 
whilst noting the Council’s comment that it is possible that the situation will 
change in the future [4.15]), none of the suggested alternatives to the Order 
would be likely to result in a significant reduction in the number of incidents at 
the ford. 

Other Matters 

8.16 With reference to procedures of years gone by, and elsewhere in the country, 
a number of objectors express the view that the response of the emergency 
services to the incidents at the ford in recent years has been excessive [5.11, 
5.29, 5.40]. However, I believe the services themselves are best placed to 
determine the most appropriate form of response at the time of an incident 
(including whether or not the swift water team is required) and, as a general 
rule, it seems to me that the more ‘informal’ the response the more likely it is 
that motorists, passengers or the rescuers would be injured or killed. 
Furthermore, fundamentally, this issue concerns only the cost (and to some 
extent the speed) of rescues and the precise nature of the emergency services 
response would not prevent an incident occurring in the first place. In the light 
of this, whether or not Stanhope has adequate emergency services cover 
[5.9] is not a matter of relevance to my deliberations.  

8.17 It is unfortunate that the Order has been progressed by the County Council 
without any indication of the number of vehicles likely to be affected by it 
[5.5, 5.22]. The only actual traffic flow data is for January, commonly agreed 
to be the ford’s quietest period of usage and there is nothing to indicate that 

Page 37



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 16 - 

  
 

Mr Wilcox’s statement (para 14.1 of his Proof of Evidence) that “less than 100 
vehicles per day will have to divert and use ‘Stonebridge’” is anywhere near 
accurate. Nonetheless, whatever the usage of the ford in the summer months, 
serious incidents have occurred during this time at the rate of about one every 
four months and I am not persuaded that a lack of data concerning the 
number of motorists likely to be affected by the closure justifies not making 
the Order. 

8.18 In response to my question Mr Wilcox explained that a County Council panel 
exists to consider and implement the temporary ‘waiving’ of traffic regulation 
orders to cater for community events and the like. Whilst I recognise the 
undesirability of there being a very large number of ‘waivings’ of the ford 
closure Order, it appears to me that this mechanism would allow for 
occasional, carefully managed, use of the ford by vehicles for specific events 
(eg historic vehicle rallies) likely to attract significant numbers of tourists to 
Stanhope.  

8.19 Many objectors claim that the physical condition of the ford and the cost of 
repairs is, or at least was, a primary motive of the County Council in seeking 
to introduce the Order [5.6, 5.25, 5.28, 5.39]. I have seen no persuasive 
evidence of the ford being deliberately allowed to fall into disrepair. However, 
I have some sympathy with the objectors’ view, particularly in the light of the 
County Council’s letter of 11 May 2010 to the Parish Council (Appendix 7 of 
the Parish Council’s written statement) in which it is stated “we therefore must 
now conclude that the ford is beyond economic repair….”. Moreover, at the 
Inquiry Mr Poole was unable to answer my question as to the influence the 
cost of maintaining the ford had had in the officers’ decision to recommend 
closure of the ford to vehicular traffic. However, given that the ford’s routine 
two-yearly condition assessment is shortly due [4.14], that the cost of 
necessary work (if any) is unclear and that the number of users of the facility 
is unknown, it seems to me that the assessment that the ford is beyond 
economic repair cannot currently be reasonably made. On the evidence I have 
seen and heard I consider that the structural condition of the ford and the cost 
of repairs/maintenance should not influence the decision as to whether or not 
the Order is made. 

8.20 I also have some sympathy with the view of objectors that it is unfair that the 
Order would ‘punish’ the vast majority of responsible, road tax paying, 
motorists because of the reckless behaviour of a minority of people [5.23, 
5.34, 7.4]. However, there are many examples in modern life of restrictions 
over the activities of all to protect the reckless few. Furthermore, I consider 
the ‘punishment’ to be a relatively minor one in comparison with the 
potentially life threatening implications of not introducing the Order. It is also 
claimed that the Order represents the ‘Nanny State’ [5.9, 7.4] although it 
seems to me that motorists taking risks driving through a river and relying on 
the emergency services to rescue them is equally representative of such a 
society. I am not persuaded that a fear of litigation is a motive behind the 
Order [5.13]. I have no doubt that there are sections of highway in the 
County with higher rates of incidents and casualties which are not proposed 
for closure to vehicular traffic [5.23] although I am not aware that there are 
any which, like the ford, are not needed to access any land or property. 
Unless the circumstances were to be very similar to those at Stanhope I see 
no reason why the making of the Order would set a precedent for the closure 
of fords elsewhere.  

 

Page 38



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 17 - 

  
 

 

Overall Balance 

8.21 In summary I consider that the elimination of serious, and potentially life 
threatening, incidents, which have occurred at the ford at an average rate of 
around one every four months during the April – September period, would be 
a significant benefit of the Order, a benefit which would not be achieved by 
any of the suggested alternatives. The main disadvantages of the Order would 
be some potential loss of tourism in Stanhope and a reduction in the ford’s 
heritage value. However, the extent of these disadvantages would be limited 
by the potential for the ford to be made more attractive as a venue for locals 
and tourists not intent on driving through it (particularly families with 
children) and the continued existence in Weardale of at least two other fords 
with no restrictions over their vehicular use. I have also borne in mind that 
the Order could be permanently rescinded if workable methods of ensuring 
safe vehicular use can be introduced in the future and that arrangements 
already exist for the temporary ‘waiving’ of the Order for special events. 

8.22 I have taken account of the local knowledge [5.2] that emerged through the 
Inquiry process and I have given weight to the strength of local opposition to 
the proposal [5.14], including that of the elected Parish Council and County 
Councillors. However, I conclude that on balance the benefits of the 
prohibition of vehicular use of the ford outweigh its likely disadvantages and 
that, thus, it is expedient to make the Order. 

9. RECOMMENDATION 

9.1 For the reasons set out above I recommend that the proposed Order is made. 

Malcolm Rivett 

INSPECTOR 

Page 39



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 18 - 

  
 

APPENDIX A - APPEARANCES 

 

FOR DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 

Mrs Patricia Holding 

She called: 

David Wilcox                           
                                              
                                              
Brian Poole                              
                                              
                                              
Paul Armin 

                                              
Colin Bage 

                                              
Michael Straugheir 

Principal Solicitor, Durham County Council 

 

Strategic Highways Manager, Neighbourhood 
Services, Durham County Council  

Section Manager, Bridge Group, Durham County 
Council 

Senior Area Drainage Engineer, Neighbourhood 
Services, Durham County Council 

Head of Operations (Delivery) County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 

Traffic Management Officer, Durham 
Constabulary 

 

OBJECTORS TO THE ORDER 

Cllr Richard Mews 

Cllr John Shuttleworth 

                                          
Cllr Anita Savory   

                                            
Mr Harry Irwin   

Mr George Jolley 

Mr Derek Cansfield 

Mr Atkinson 

Mr Thompson 

Stanhope Parish Council 

Weardale Ward Councillor, Durham County 
Council 

Weardale Ward Councillor, Durham County 
Council 

Local Resident 

Beamish Safety and Reliability Run 

North East Club for Pre-War Austins 

Local Resident 

Local Resident 

 

OTHER INTERESTED PERSONS: 

Mrs Davies Local Resident 

 

 
 

Page 40



REPORT TO DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL       REF DPI/X1355/11/21 

 

- 19 - 

  
 

APPENDIX B – DOCUMENTS  
 
PRE/1  Inspector’s Pre-Inquiry Note 
 
Proof of Evidence of David Wilcox (and appendices DCC/DJW/1-19) 
Proof of Evidence of Brian Poole (and appendices) 
Proof of Evidence of Paul Armin (and appendices) 
Proof of Evidence of Colin Bage (and appendices) 
Proof of Evidence of Michael Straugheir 
Written Statement of Stanhope Parish Council 
Written Statement of the Environment Agency 
Appendices of Core Documents DCC/CD/1 – DCC/CD/9 
 
The Appendices of David Wilcox includes at DCC/DJW/10-15 the letters of 
representation submitted in response to the proposed Order. 
 
APPENDIX C – DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE INQUIRY 
 
INQ/1  Written statement of Cllr John Shuttleworth 
INQ/2  Written statement of Cllr Anita Savory  
INQ/3  Written statement of Mrs Davies 
INQ/4  Written statement of Harry Irwin 
INQ/5  Extract from ‘Automobile’, Feb 2012 
INQ/6  Traffic flow figures A689 
INQ/7  Extracts from tourism websites (2010) 
INQ/8  ‘Stanhope Town Map’ tourism leaflet 
INQ/9  Closing Submissions of Stanhope Parish Council 
INQ/10  Closing Submissions of Durham County Council’s Officers  
 
 

 

  

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Highways Committee 
 

21st February 2012 
 

B6277 Speed Limit Review 
 

 

 

 
 

Report of Terry Collins, Corporate Director Neighbourhood Services 

Councillor Bob Young, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Environment and Leisure 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To advise Members of an objection received to the proposed amendments 
to existing speed limits on the B6277 and C162, Cotherstone 

 
2 It is recommended that the Committee reject the objection to the proposal.  

At the same time it is still considered that the proposed location of the 
speed limit does not adhere to the best practice guidance for the Setting of 
Credible Speed Limits.  Therefore in this instance it is recommended that 
consideration be given to commencing the 30mph zone at a location near 
the midway point of the existing and proposed location.  

 
It is also recommended that the Committee support the proposal for the 
relocation of the speed limit on the C162 and proceed with the 
implementation of the extension to the existing 30mph limit at this point.  

 
Background 
 
3 A speed limit review was completed on the B6277, C162 and various other 

side roads adjoining the B6277 in April 2011 This review was undertaken 
in accordance with current best practice guidance produced by the 
Department for Transport (DfT) known as Circular 1/06 `Setting Local 
Speed Limits`.  Although the proposals of this review agreed at Aprils  
Highways Committee, it was done with the recommendation that a further 
consultation exercise was undertaken with regards the positioning of the 
30mph signs on the B6277 and C162 in Cotherstone. 

 
4 The County Council have adopted this guidance and incorporated this DfT 

document into `The County Durham and Darlington Speed Management 
Strategy 2006-2011` ensuring good practice is maintained countywide. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 43



5 Research and experience gained at other locations within the County have 
proven that the installation of speed limits which are credible with the 
environment through which the motorist is travelling results in improved 
driver compliance.      

 
6 De-restricted speed limit orders are to be created for the sections of 

highway covered by street lighting which are not subject to a 30mph speed 
limit.  In addition 30mph speed limit orders are to be created for the 
sections of non-street lit areas which are to be subject to a 30mph speed 
limit. 

 
7 The B6277 forms a route linking the A66 transpennine road to the County 

Boundary at Langdon Beck near Alston, Cumbria.  It is therefore a key 
strategic route through Teesdale.  The B6277 travels through a number of 
villages, including Cotherstone. 

 
Proposal 
 
8 To amend the part of the existing Traffic Regulation Order relating to the 

30mph speed limits on the B6277 and C162 in Cotherstone. 
 
9 It was requested at the Durham County Council’s April Highways 

Committee that we consult on the amendment of the 30mph zones at the 
southern end of the B6277 and the eastern end of the C162 in 
Cotherstone.  These amendments are as follows: 

(a) at the C162 Briscoe Lane, Cotherstone  - 30mph speed limit to be 
relocated to a point 79 metres west of its current location.  See 
Appendix 2. 

(b) at the B6277, Cotherstone (southern end) – 30mph speed limit to 
be relocated to a point 108 metres south of its current location.  See 
Appendix 3. 

  
Statutory Consultation 
 
10  The Traffic Regulation Order was drafted and advertised as per the 

requirements of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 with the objection 
period ending 2nd November 2011. 

 
11 The Local Members, Councillors Bell and Harrison (Barnard Castle West 

Ward) were both consulted and offered no objection to the proposal. 
 
12 The consultation exercise resulted in 1 objection.  This objection was 

submitted by Durham Constabulary in relation to the relocation of the 
30mph limit on the B6277 northbound approach, as detailed in paragraph 
9a.  No objections were received in relation to the relocation of the speed 
limit on the C162, as detailed in paragraph 9b.   

Page 44



 
 
Objections / Representations and Responses 
 
13 Objection 

Durham Constabulary objects to the relocation of the 30mph limit on the 
B6277 northbound approach into Cotherstone.  Their objection notes that 
the road at this point is predominantly straight and slightly undulating with 
a rural aspect.  They also note that there is no record of any traffic 
accidents at this location within the last 3 years.  The issue of credibility is 
also raised and the concern is that if the speed limits are relocated then 
this may well lead to higher speeds of vehicles within the built up area.  

  
14 Response 

 The existing location of the signage is compliant with current best practice 
guidance produced by the Department for Transport (DfT) known as 
Circular 1/06 `Setting Local Speed Limits`.  Compliance would not be met 
should the speed limits be moved southwards outside of the built up area 
and this may result in higher vehicle speeds being recorded within the 
village itself.  Again, as mentioned previously it is considered that the 
positioning of the 30mph signs in an area of no frontage development 
would send a confusing message to the motorist. 

 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

15 It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee reject the objection but do not 
proceed with the proposal to amend the existing Traffic Regulation Order 
in relation to speed limit on the B6277 as is currently outlined.  Instead, it 
is recommended that a further consultation exercise be undertaken with 
the speed limit commencing at a point near the bridge.  It is considered 
that this point offers a reasonable compromise as it will allow improved 
visibility to the signs whilst also maintaining that they are in relative close 
proximity to the built up area.     

 
16 It is RECOMMENDED that the committee pursue with the scheme as 

proposed in relation to the C162.   
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Area Traffic Office Scheme File 
Department of Transport Circular 1/06 – Setting Local Speed Limits 
The County Durham and Darlington Speed Management Strategy 2006-2011 
 

Page 45



 
 
Contact: Lee Mowbray   Telephone: (01388) 602028  
 

Page 46



P
o

u
n

d
 H

o
u

s
e

D
a

le
 V

ie
w

W
est

ril
l

W
e

s
t

L
o

d
g

e

S
a

lt
o

u
n

H
o

u
s
e

B
a

ld
e

r

C
o

tt
a

g
e

B
a

ld
e

r 
C

ro
ft

P
a
th

 (
u
m

)

G
P

G
le

n
s
id

e

R
e

d
 G

a
b

le
s

Cottages

E
a

s
t 1

West

Glenview

Red Gables

2

West

W
e
s
te

rn
m

o
s
t 
s
tr

e
e
tl
ig

h
t 
in

 t
h
e
 s

y
s
te

m
 o

f 
S

tr
e
e
tl
ig

h
ts

E
n
tr

a
n
c
e
 i
n
to

 B
a
ld

e
r 

C
ro

ft

C
1
6
2
 B

ri
s
c
o
e
 L

a
n
e

S
ta

rt
 o

f 
E

x
is

ti
n
g
 3

0
m

p
h
 Z

o
n
e

B
62

77

E
x
te

n
t 
o
f 
p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 3

0
m

p
h
 Z

o
n
e

7
9
m

1
3
7
m

P
A

T
H

1
:1

0
0
0

S
o

u
t
h

e
r
n

 A
r
e

a
 O

f
f
ic

e

T
e

rr
y
 C

o
lli

n
s

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 D
ir
e

c
to

r

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s

C
o

u
n

ty
 H

a
ll

D
u

rh
a

m

D
H

1
 5

U
Q

C
ro

w
n
 c

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t.
  
A

ll 
ri
g
h
ts

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
d
. 
 D

u
rh

a
m

 C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il.

  
L
A

 1
0
0
0
4
9
0
5
5
. 
2
0
1
1

B
6

2
7

7
 S

p
e

e
d

 L
im

it
 O

rd
e

r 
- 

C
o

th
e

rs
to

n
e

C
1

6
2

 B
ri
s
c
o

e
 L

a
n

e
, 

C
o

th
e

rs
to

n
e

A
m

e
n

d
m

e
n

t 
to

 O
ri
g

in
a

l 
O

rd
e

r

C
O

2
A

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



1

5

9

B
 6

2
7
7

7

1

Station
Terrace

The Station
1
0

5

The Close

Fitzhugh Court

1

4

7

Existing 30mph signage

Village Nameplate

Highfield Cottage

Home Cottage

Greenfields

Southern-most streetlight in

the system of streetlights
1
0
8
m

1
8
8
m

Extent of Proposed 30mph

Zone

PATH

B6277 Speed Limit Order - Cotherstone

1:1250

Southern Area Office

Terry Collins

Corporate Director

Neighbourhood Services

County Hall

Durham

DH1 5UQ

Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Durham County Council.  LA 100049055. 2011

Appendix 3

Key

- Location of existing streetlights

Amendment to Original Order

CO1A

B6277 Cotherstone, South of Fitzhugh Court
Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



1

5

9

B
 6

2
7
7

7

1

Station
Terrace

The Station
1
0

5

The Close

Fitzhugh Court

1

4

7

Existing 30mph signage

Village Nameplate

Highfield Cottage

Home Cottage

Greenfields

Southern-most streetlight in

the system of streetlights
1
8
8
m

Extent of Proposed 30mph

Zone

Potential location of 30mph 
signage

PATH

B6277 Speed Limit Order - Cotherstone

1:1250

Southern Area Office

Terry Collins

Corporate Director

Neighbourhood Services

County Hall

Durham

DH1 5UQ

Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Durham County Council.  LA 100049055. 2011

Appendix 4

Key

- Location of existing streetlights

Amendment to Original Order

CO3A

B6277 Cotherstone, South of Fitzhugh Court

Potential Location of 30mph Zone Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Highways Committee 
 

21 February 2012 
 

Rockingham Drive, Bishop Auckland 
Traffic Calming 
 

 

 

 
 

Report of Terry Collins, Corporate Director Neighbourhood Services 

Councillor Bob Young, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Environment and Leisure 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To advise Members of objections received to the proposed traffic calming 
scheme on Rockingham Drive, Bishop Auckland. 

 
2 It is recommended that the Committee support the proposal to install the 

speed tables at the locations identified on Rockingham Drive. 
 
Background 
 
3 The Area Office has received several requests for traffic calming on 

Rockingham Drive, Bishop Auckland from local residents.  Residents of 
the area have spoken with Area Office staff on a number of occasions in 
recent years with respect to their concerns relating to traffic speeds on this 
road. 

 
4 Housing estates are statistically areas where accidents involving children 

are more likely to happen, with two thirds of all road accidents occurring 
on roads with a speed limit of 30mph or less.  Installing traffic calming 
results in a 5% reduction in casualties for every 1mph reduction in average 
speed. 

 
5 A speed survey was carried out near Coal Burn which is midway between 

Lancaster Close and Calder Close between the 11/03/11 and the 
21/03/11.  The results of this survey showed that there is an average of 
4227 vehicles using this road every day at a mean average speed of 
33.3mph.  The 85th percentile speed at this location is 38.6mph. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 53



6 A speed survey was also carried out near Killhope Grove between the 
11/03/11 and the 21/03/11.  The results of this survey showed that there is 
an average of 4119 vehicles using this road every day at a mean average 
speed of 30mph.  The 85th percentile speed at this location is 34.8mph. 

 
7 There has been 1 no. slight personal injury accident on Rockingham Drive 

since 1st January 2008.  This accident occurred near the junction with 
Carisbrooke Crescent and involved one vehicle running into the back of 
another. 
 

Proposal 
 
8 Rockingham Drive is a bus route and as such, the type of traffic calming 

which can be constructed here is limited.  It was decided to implement 3 
no. Speed Tables on this route.  The locations were selected so as to 
conform to Government Guidance.  These locations are detailed below: 
Speed Table 1 – Junction of Rockingham Drive / Lindisfarne Close 
Speed Table 2 – Junction of Rockingham Drive / Whitby Close 
Speed Table 3 – Junction of Rockingham Drive / Middlehope Grove 

 
 (See Appendix 2) 
 
Statutory Consultation 
 
9  The Traffic Regulation Order was drafted and advertised as per the 

requirements of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 with the objection 
period ending 25th November 2011. 

 
10 The Local Members, Councillors Andy Turner and Yorke (West Auckland 

Electoral Division) were both consulted and offered no objection to the 
proposal. 

 
11 The consultation exercise resulted in 18 objections.  These objections 

were submitted by residents who live on the various streets accessed from 
Rockingham Drive.  One of the objectors did not leave any contact details 
on their submitted card.   185 responses were received in favour to the 
proposal.  See Appendix 3. 

 
Objections / Representations and Responses 
 
12 Objection 

Speed tables on the junctions will make it difficult for motorists to enter / 
exit side roads during wintery conditions. 

 
 
 

Page 54



 
13 Response 
 Rockingham Drive forms part of Durham County Councils Winter 

Maintenance Route.  The side roads leading off from the junctions where 
the speed tables are to be located are relatively flat.  In addition, we will 
look to supply salt bins at each speed table location if a problem becomes 
apparent.. 

 
14  Objection 

Speed tables cause damage to vehicles 
 

15  Response 
The speed tables will be constructed to Government Guidelines so that 
they provide the desired reduction in speed whilst providing minimal 
discomfort.  No vehicular damage should occur if vehicles negotiate the 
humps at appropriate speeds. 

 
16 Objection 

Traffic Calming is not required on Rockingham Drive as there is no 
speeding problem. 
 

17 Response 
Speed Surveys have been undertaken on Rockingham Drive and the 
results have shown that a significant percentage of motorists exceed the 
speed limit of 30mph. 
 

18 Objection 
Speed Tables 1 and 3 are not required as speeding is mostly prevalent in 
the middle section of the road, near Speed Table 2. 
 

19 Response 
The road hump regulations state that traffic calming should be located 
along a route between speed reducing features, i.e. junctions / severe 
bends etc and not in isolation.  It is extremely likely that speeding issues 
on other sections of Rockingham Drive would increase should only 1 
speed table be constructed. 

 
20 Objection 

The proposed Speed Table locations will still allow for vehicles to speed in 
between them. 

 
21 Response 

The speed tables have been located in line with recognised Government 
Guidelines. 
 
 

Page 55



 
22 Objection 

The location of speed table 2 is dangerous as it is on the brow of a hill 
 

23 Response 
Speed Table 2 is located at the most appropriate location near to the mid 
point between Speed Tables 1 and 3.  The junctions either side of this 
location are not deemed suitable for the construction of a speed table and 
thus the Whitby Close junction is considered the best option in this 
instance. 
 

24 Objection  
The speed tables should be located at alternative locations, not on 
junctions 
 

25 Response 
Previous experience of constructing speed tables has shown that by 
installing them on junctions they offer the advantages of calming two 
streets at once and providing a safer crossing point for pedestrians.  None 
of the side roads of the junctions covered by the features approach 
Rockingham Drive at a significant incline.  Thus it is not anticipated that 
there will be any problems in wintry conditions. 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
15 It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee set aside the objections and 

proceed with the scheme as proposed.   
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Area Traffic Office Scheme File 
Department of Transport Circular 1/06 – Setting Local Speed Limits 
The County Durham and Darlington Speed Management Strategy 2006-2011 
 
 
 
Contact: Lee Mowbray   Telephone: (01388) 602028  
 

Page 56



 
 
Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
1 Finance  

The scheme is being funded using the LTP ‘Road Safety’ budget 

 

2 Staffing  - None 

 

3 Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty - None 

 

4 Accommodation  - None 

 

5 Crime and Disorder - None 

 

6 Human Rights - None 

 

7 Consultation  

Consultation undertaken in accordance with the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984. 

 

8 Procurement - None 

 

9 Disability Issues - None 

 

10 Legal Implications - None 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



Culvert

12

19

67

1
7

2

14

1

1
1

1
5

ROCHESTER CLOSE

29

30

36

62

37

5
0

ETHERLEY LANE

43

24

18

PH

19

D
R

IV
E

4
5

44

F
O

X
G

L
O

V
E

2

1

1

21

1
0

Dene

8

10

SNOWDROP WAY

19

Farm

15

7

Etherley

3

5
11

S
N
O

W
D
R
O

P
 W

A
Y

5

1

6

L
A

R
K

S
P

U
R

 C
O

U
R

T

Line

C
LO

V
E
R

 D
R

IV
E

Pipe

27

Eth
erle

y D
eneC

oa
l B

ur
n

19

1
4

2

1

1
9

N
E

W
A

R
K

 A
V

E
N

U
E

18

1

23

El Sub Sta

1
9S
T

IR
L
IN

G
 C

L
O

S
E

56

2
6

6

15

D
R

IV
E

12

14

LANCASTER CL

1

CLOSE

14

TAM
W

O
RTH

7

63

1

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

12

CARIS
BRO

O
KE

14

14

6

12

52

57

1
1

C
oa

l B
ur

n

2

CALDER CLOSE

1

6

1
4

6

1

2

11

4

BAYSDALE

FB

CLOSE

Outfall

15

1

20

2
8

11

32

EASBY CLOSE

2
2

2

6

16

15

19

1

11

15

2
4

1

W
H

IT
B

Y
C

L
O

S
E

8

2

22

2
8

2
7

10 20

4
0

34

4
3

39

Etherley Dene

W
O

O
D
H
O

U
SE LAN

E

71

Etherley Dene

75

ETHERLEY LANE

5
6

4
6

6
2

57

5
2

19

FB

6
1

76

3

66

2

67

1

18

Rush Park

7

Rush Park

201

33

53

44

29

30

34

48

12

24

25

13

39

Playing Fields

Playing Fields

Path (u
m)

7

16

C
LO

SE

2
0

F
U

R
N

E
S

S

1
0

2

R
O

C
K

IN
G

H
A

M
 D

R
IV

E

15

25

1
2

El Sub Sta

3
3

11

4
2

B
R

IN
K

B
U

R
N

1

33

3

41

3
2

1
1

CLOSE

1
5

8

1

25

2

2

1
7

1
5

14

12

15

1
4

10

1

5
6

ROOKHOPE GROVE

1

KILLHOPE GROVE

1

1

2

6
3

1
1

9

6

1

HOLLYWELL GROVE

8

12

14
16

P
a
th

34

2
0

28

Path
 (u

m
)

14

26

12

32

Path
 (u

m
)

14

43

MIDDLEHOPE GROVE8

12

18

17

16

33

BOLLIHOPE

34

6

GROVE

1
9

37

35

36

B
L
A

G
D

E
N

 G
R

O
V

E

1
4

19

23

1
2

49

20

2
7

2
8

23

18

2
6

1

5

1

15

1
6

1
2

6 1
0

5

1
7

2
0

1
1

1
4 73

76

65

H
A

R
T

H
O

P
E

 G
R

O
V

E

1

2
5

2
1

2
4

22

El Sub Sta

1
4

1

1
5

8

T
U

N
S

T
A

L
L
 G

R
O

V
E

70

1
2

23

Bywell

6

10

1

7

8

HEVER CL

3
1

2
9

12

C
L
O

S
E

L
IN

D
IS

F
A

R
N

E

7

12

29

SPEED TABLE 1

SPEED TABLE 2

SPEED TABLE 3

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

R
O

C
K
IN

G
H
A
M

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

Southern Area Office

Terry Collins

Corporate Director

Neighbourhood Services

County Hall

Durham

DH1 5UQ

Rockingham Drive Traffic Calming

Appendix 2

1:2500 - A3 RD01A

Not To Scale - A4

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil

proceedings.  Durham County Council.  LA 100049055. 2011.

Location Plan

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



Culvert

12

19

67

1
7

2

14

1

1
1

1
5

ROCHESTER CLOSE

29

30

36

62

37

5
0

43

24

18

PH

19

D
R

IV
E

44

F
O

X
G

L
O

V
E

2

1

1
0

Dene

8

10

SNOWDROP WAY

Farm

15

7

Etherley

3

5
11

S
N
O

W
D
R
O

P
 W

A
Y

5

1

6

L
A

R
K

S
P

U
R

 C
O

U
R

T

Line

C
LO

V
E
R

 D
R

IV
E

Pipe

27

Eth
erle

y D
eneC

oa
l B

ur
n

19

1
4

2

1

1
9

N
E

W
A

R
K

 A
V

E
N

U
E

18

1

23

El Sub Sta

1
9S
T

IR
L
IN

G
 C

L
O

S
E

56

2
6

6

15

D
R

IV
E

12

14

LANCASTER CL

1

CLOSE

14

TAM
W

O
RTH

7

63

1

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

12

CARIS
BRO

O
KE

14

14

6

12

52

57

1
1

C
oa

l B
ur

n

2

CALDER CLOSE

1

6

1
4

6

1

2

11

4

BAYSDALE

FB

CLOSE

Outfall

15

1

20

2
8

11

32

EASBY CLOSE

2
2

2

6

16

15

19

1

11

15

2
4

1

W
H

IT
B

Y
C

L
O

S
E

8

2

22

2
8

2
7

10
20

4
0

34

4
3

39

Etherley Dene

W
O

O
D
H
O

U
SE LAN

E

71

Etherley Dene

75

ETHERLEY
LANE

5
6

4
6

62

57

5
2

19

FB

6
1

76

3

66

2

67

1

18

Rush Park

7

Rush Park

201

33

53

44

29

30

34

4
8

12

24

25

13

39

Playing Fields

Playing Fields

Path (u
m)

7

16

C
LO

SE

2
0

F
U

R
N

E
S

S

1
0

2

R
O

C
K

IN
G

H
A

M
 D

R
IV

E

15

25

1
2

El Sub Sta

3
3

11

4
2

B
R

IN
K

B
U

R
N

1

33

3

41

3
2

1
1

CLOSE

1
5

8

1

25

2

2

1
7

1
5

14

12

15

1
4

10

1

5
6

ROOKHOPE GROVE

1

KILLHOPE GROVE

1

1

2

6
3

1
1

9

6

1

HOLLYWELL GROVE

8

12

14
16

P
a
th

34

2
0

28

Path
 (u

m
)

14

26

12

32

Path
 (u

m
)

14

43

MIDDLEHOPE GROVE8

12

18

17

16

33

BOLLIHOPE

34

6

GROVE

1
9

37

35

36

B
L
A

G
D

E
N

 G
R

O
V

E

1
4

19

23

1

1
2

49

20

2
7

2
8

23

D
R
IV

E

18

2
6

1

5

1

15

16

1
6

1
2

6 1
0

5

1
7

2
0

1
1

1
4 73

76

65

H
A

R
T

H
O

P
E

 G
R

O
V

E

1

2
5

2
1

2
4

22

El Sub Sta

1
4

1

1
5

8

T
U

N
S

T
A

L
L
 G

R
O

V
E

70

1
2

Bywell

6

10

1

7

8

HEVER CL

3
1

2
9

12

C
LO

S
E

L
IN

D
IS

F
A

R
N

E

7

12

29

SPEED TABLE 1

SPEED TABLE 2

SPEED TABLE 3

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

R
O

C
K
IN

G
H
A
M

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

Southern Area Office

Terry Collins

Corporate Director

Neighbourhood Services

County Hall

Durham

DH1 5UQ

Rockingham Drive Traffic Calming

Appendix 3

1:2500 - A3 RD02A

Not To Scale - A4

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil

proceedings.  Durham County Council.  LA 100049055. 2011.

Results of Consultation Exercise

Key

- Responded in favour

- Responded in objection

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meetings held on 20 December 2011 and 2 February 2012
	Minutes - 2 February 2012

	3 Stanhope Ford - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services
	Appendix 2 - Stanhope Ford
	Appendix 3 - Stanhope Ford
	Appendix 4 - Stanhope Ford

	4 B6277 Speed Limit Review - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	5 Rockingham Drive, Bishop Auckland - Traffic Calming - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3


